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1.

Agrifirm profile
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. is market leader in the Netherlands and is globally engaged in the
production and supply of products and services for feeding animals and cultivating crops. Its cooperative
origin has been translated into benefits for its customers and members since 1892. On the basis of the
breadth of its international activities, sector knowledge and innovative strength, Agrifirm develops
innovative products and services that yield benefits at the farm level to livestock farmers and growers
alike.
Agricultural farmers are of vital importance to society and of crucial importance to the world food supply.
Enterprising livestock farmers and growers are aware of this and have been anticipating social trends for years.
Farmers and market gardeners established the first cooperatives well before 1900. Together they acquired
greater strength, for example in the purchase and sale of products. The role of the cooperatives has grown along
with the trends in the market and in society. The interests of Agrifirm’s members are decisive in this respect.
MISSION
Agrifirm is an agricultural cooperative that operates globally, with members in the Netherlands only and with the
following mission:
‘Deliver measurable, relevant and sustainable value at farm, field and industry’
Agrifirm accomplishes this by:
> Supporting customers by providing integrated sustainable and profitable products and concepts that enable
livestock farmers and growers to achieve the best possible results.
> Creating growth in value for the company that is partially passed on to the cooperative’s members through
means of a cooperative profit-sharing scheme (Member Dividend and Member Discount).
> Maximising cooperation between its divisions and clusters in order to give substance to the joint mission.
> Intensive cooperation with its members, customers and relevant chain parties and assume responsibility when
needed.
VISION
The basis for the mission is the worldwide vision:
‘A responsible food chain for future generations’
This vision is the most important fundament under Agrifirm and is the leading principle in both daily and strategic
decisions. Our mission is put into practice by the Agrifirm core competences: our superior knowledge and
passionate employees.
OPERATING PRINCIPLES
Agrifirm is first and foremost a committed specialist for livestock farmers and growers that supports its customers
with innovative products and services, thus enabling them to achieve the best possible results. To achieve this,
Agrifirm acts in accordance with three leading operating principles. These principles guide Agrifirm in everything it
does and ensure that there is an optimal connection with the requirements and needs of livestock farmers and
growers.
Passion for our profession
If there is one aspect that connects Agrifirm with customers, it would be the passion we have for our profession.
Agrifirm is proud of the companies in the agricultural sectors. Agrifirm’s employees stand out on the basis of their
professional knowledge and their high level of commitment to the livestock farming and growing professions and
enjoy going the extra mile in order to achieve the best possible service and results for their customers.
Always staying on top of things
Successful doing business requires continuous alertness for new developments, opportunities, quality, revenues
and costs. This applies to livestock farmers and growers and likewise to Agrifirm. This is why the principle, always
staying on top of things, applies.
Working towards tomorrow
Agricultural entrepreneurs not only consider the present, but, even more important, the future as well, often
across many generations. This requires vision, knowledge and expertise. Agrifirm looks ahead and, together with
customers and chain partners, works on innovative and sustainable solutions that enable customers to operate
successfully ‘tomorrow’ as well.
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AMBITION
Agrifirm wants to further strengthen its leadership position on the Dutch market in terms of sales and perception
by being a front runner in terms of knowledge and innovation and through customer-oriented consulting services.
The company group wants to expand its market share in the core area of the Netherlands, as well as beyond,
through organic growth and profitable acquisitions. To realise this ambition, Agrifirm works with well-trained
employees who are sincerely interested in their customers.
Agrifirm operates in four core areas: compound feed, arable farming and horticulture, co-products and specialties.
A professional knowledge & innovation cluster serves as the engine for knowledge development and product
innovation. In addition, Agrifirm is active with a number of service companies and participating interests.
COOPERATIVE 2020
A Cooperative is an organisational form that is still very much alive and that explicitly differentiates itself from
other legal forms. Agrifirm wants to emphasise these differences, because, just like agriculture and livestock
farming, a Cooperative increasingly demands precision in terms of its approach to defining the cooperative
business model and its substance.
This is why Agrifirm has concluded that the cooperative character of our company in particular demands that we
emphasise our stewardship as set out in the previously mentioned vision.
Specifically, this means that Agrifirm will always put the relevance and sustainability of its solutions above its
short-term profitability and will clearly communicate this in the market in word and behaviour. Without losing sight
of the commercial interests of Agrifirm and its customers and members. Agrifirm is convinced that sustainability
and commercial competitiveness can perfectly go hand in hand.
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2.

Key figures
(all amounts are stated in millions of euros unless indicated otherwise)

2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

2,170
31.7
1.5%
-

2,385
48.0
2.0%
-

2,359
26.9
1.1%
-11.7

2,532
33.3
1.3%
-

2,436
18.5
0.8%
-

Operating income
Net finance expenses

31.7
-2.8

48.0
-7.3

15.2
-9.0

33.3
-7.6

18.5
-7.9

Profit before income tax
Result participating interests
Net income

28.9
13.8
30.6

40.7
46.5
76.2

6.2
0.7
3.1

25.7
4.9
20.4

10.6
16.9
21.1

335.5
85.2
420.7

342.3
121.0
463.3

331.5
116.8
448.3

366.1
146.0
512.1

352.4
263.2
615.6

452.8
15.0
-47.1
420.7
53.2%

443.0
8.7
11.6
463.3
52.0%

388.5
15.5
44.3
488.3
51.6%

393.2
17.4
101.5
512.1
48.6%

382.4
24.4
208.8
615.6
42.7%

36.1
37.2

54.5
31.0

35.4
36.6

56.6
31.7

53.4
28.9

94.6

56.6

61.0

110.8

8.7

22.5

20.0

14.0

12.8

13.3

3,089

3,179

2,999

2,956

3,106

Compound feed
Co-products
Premixes & concentrates
Total animal feed
Cereals, potatoes, onions and carrots
Fertilisers
Total arable products

4,021
2,154
531
6,706
409
412
821

4,256
2,306
494
7,056
489
394
883

4,248
2,371
461
7,080
612
430
1,042

4,109
2,508
442
7,059
688
377
1,065

4,155
2,217
414
6,786
617
374
991

Total sales volume
Crop protection products (in € millions)

7,527
141.9

7,939
126.9

8,122
131.7

8,124
119.8

7,777
116.5

Revenues and result
Net turnover
Operational income (excluding exceptionals)
Operational income as % of turnover
Exceptional charges

Net assets
Fixed assets
Net working capital
Total net assets

Financing
Group equity
Provisions
Net debt
Total financing
Group equity as % of balance sheet total

Investments
Investments fixed assets
Depreciation fixed assets

Cash flow
Cash flow from operating activities

Member distributions
Member Dividend / Member Discount 1)

Staff
Number of employees year-end (in FTEs)

Sales volume (x 1,000 tonnes)

1)
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3.

Report of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board forms a personal union together with the Board of the Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A.
At 31 December 2016, the Supervisory Board comprised the following persons:
Mr. T.P. Koekkoek, Almkerk (Chairman)
Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp, Raamsdonk (Vice-chairman)
Mr. A.J.C.M. Görtz, Baarlo (member)
Mr. M.G. Scholtens, Luttelgeest (member)
Mr. A.C.M. Smits, Wilbertoord (member)
Mr. A.M.M. Lammers, Bavel (external member)
Mr. A.R. Wessels, Hilversum (external member)
Ms. E.W. Friesen-Leibbrandt, Rotterdam (external member)
Ms. M.H.A. Philipsen, Horst (external member)

>
>
>
>
>
>
>
>
>

due to stand down and ineligible for reappointment in 2018
due to stand down and ineligible for reappointment in 2020
due to stand down and ineligible for reappointment in 2017
due to stand down and eligible for reappointment in 2018
due to stand down and eligible for reappointment in 2018
due to stand down and ineligible for reappointment in 2017
due to stand down and eligible for reappointment in 2019
due to stand down and eligible for reappointment in 2020
due to stand down and eligible for reappointment in 2020

The following table reflects the positions and ancillary positions of the members of the Supervisory Board.
Member

Position

Profession

Ancillary positions

Mr. T.P. (Theo)

Chairman

Agricultural entrepreneur

>

Koekkoek

arable / poultry farming

Board member of the Nationaal Coöperatieve Raad (Dutch
National Cooperatives Council)

>

Member of the Supervisory Board of Stichting Achmea
Rechtsbijstand (Achmea Legal Aid Foundation)

>

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Rabobank Altena

>

Member of the management board CDA (Dutch political party)

Mr. A.A.J.M. (Arian)

Vice-

Agricultural entrepreneur

>

Member of the Supervisory Board of Rabobank Nederland

Kamp

chairman

dairy farming

>

Member of the Executive Board of Stichting Beheer Flynth

Mr. A.J.C.M. (Ton) Görtz

Member

Agricultural entrepreneur

>

None

Mr. M.G. (Marcel)

Member

>

Chairman, Pool Committee for Consumer Potatoes, Agrico

>

None

>

Member of the Supervisory Board Gezondheidsdienst voor

(Foundation Holding Flynth auditors)

pig farming

Scholtens

Agricultural entrepreneur
arable farming
Agricultural entrepreneur

Mr. A.C.M. (Teun) Smits

Member

Mr. A.M.M. (Ton)

External

Retired, formerly:

Lammers

member

Vice-chairman of the

agriculture / pig farming

Dieren BV (Animal Health Service BV)

Executive Board and CFO
of the Vion Food Group
Mr. A.R. (Xander)

External

Wessels

member

Ms. E.W. (Lizet)

External

CFO Hak (Neerlands Glorie

Friesen-Leibbrandt

member

Groente & Fruit)

Ms. M.H.A. (Mieke)

External

Finance Director

Philipsen

member

Rousselot

CEO Archroma

>

Member of the Board (Vice-chairman) Dohmen GmbH

>

Member of the Supervisory Board Topigs Norsvin

>

None

>

Member of the Supervisory Board of Rabobank Horst-Venray

Supervisory Board member Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp was standing down in 2016 but eligible for reappointment. The
nomination committee has, after amongst others a meeting with Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp, advised positively to the
members council to elect him for a new term. The members council adopted this advice in the Members Council
on 8 March 2016. Since Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp is a member of the nomination committee, Mr. M.G. Scholtens
temporarily replaced Mr. A.A.J.M Kamp in the procedure of his re-election.
In 2016, Mr. J.T.P.M. Rooijakkers was standing down from the Supervisory Board and not eligible for
reappointment. His standing down was planned for March 2016. However, for the continuity in the appointment of
the new CEO, Mr. D. Hordijk, Mr. J.T.P.M. Rooijakkers stayed on till 21 June 2016. The Members Council
approved this extension of his term on 8 March 2016. In the Members Council of 21 June 2016 Mr.
J.T.P.M. Rooijakkers stood down from the Supervisory Board. At that date there were no new candidates for the
external Supervisory Board member position available yet to present for nomination to the Members Council.
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On 14 December 2016, the nomination committee nominated, after a thorough selection process, two new
external Supervisory Board members. The Members Council discussed the nomination and accepted both
candidates. The new external Supervisory Board members are Ms. E.W. Friesen-Leibbrandt from Rotterdam
(South-Holland, the Netherlands) and Ms. M.H.A. Philipsen from Horst (Limburg, the Netherlands). Ms. E.W.
Friesen-Leibbrandt is CFO at HAK, Ms. M.H.A. Philipsen is Finance Director at Rousselot.
With these appointments the Supervisory Board consists until March 2017 of nine persons. In March 2017, Mr.
A.M.M. Lammers will stand down from the Supervisory Board, after which the Supervisory Board consists of eight
members again. The Members Council approved this approach, which ensures a smooth transition of tasks.
In March 2017 also Mr. A.J.C.M. Görtz will stand down from the Supervisory Board and is not eligible for
reappointment. In December 2016, the Members Council approved the profile which will be used for searching a
new member.
Agrifirm’s 2015 financial statements were adopted by the Members Council on 8 March 2016. The Members
Council also granted the Supervisory Board of Agrifirm Group BV discharge for the supervision exercised and the
Executive Board of Agrifirm Group BV and the Board of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. discharge for the
policies pursued.
Since 2014, Agrifirm operates in accordance with the strategic policy lines laid down in the 2014-2016 Strategic
Plan: ‘Agrifirm the Best Company in its Market by 2016’. The key goal here is: ‘More customers, More profit’. A
stronger focus on core activities and an acceleration of various improvement processes, were considered
necessary to be able to achieve these objectives. In 2016, this stronger focus was further intensified through the
sale of the shares in Agrimec (Abemec) to BayWa and the sale of the remaining shares in Plukon. This means
that Agrifirm now only has retail activities, which are considered to be non-core activities.
In 2015, preparations were made for an organisational restructuring that became effective on 1 January 2016.
The group companies were combined into three divisions and three clusters. The largest change is the formation
of the North West Europe division that combines Agrifirm Feed, Agrifirm Belgium, Agrifirm Deutschland,
Agrifirm Co-products, BV Oldambt and the Agrifirm Innovation Centre. In 2016, effort went into further integration,
in which leveraging synergy benefits played a key role. The procurement of raw materials, feed production and
transportation activities were increasingly synchronised as part of this process.
Plant and Specialties make up the other two divisions. The feed activities in Poland and Hungary together make
up the Central and Eastern Europe cluster. In addition, NutriControl and Agrifirm Exlan were combined to form a
separate cluster. The Services cluster comprises Welkoop Winkel BV and Welkoop Retail.
The Executive Board, with two members, Chairman (CEO) and Financial Director (CFO), is supported by the
Executive Committee, comprising the Executive Board and the directors of the three divisions. In 2016, it was
decided to expand the Executive Committee to include the director of the Central and Eastern Europe cluster.
The Executive Board focuses on progress and improvement in the area of creating value, strategy, synergy and
company-wide projects. The Supervisory Board meets with the Executive Board and in addition regularly meets
with (members of) the Executive Committee and Executive Board jointly. The centralisation of ICT, HR and
Communications also forms part of the restructured organisation.
The Supervisory Board met nine times regulatory in 2016. A number of meetings was held in absence of the
Executive Board. The financial reporting was discussed with the Executive Board each quarter. Other important
subjects were the potential acquisitions and divestments, as well as the development of the strategic position and
the organisational restructuring.
In 2016 the succession of Mr. A. Loman, who retired this year, was an important topic for discussion. This process
was successfully completed with the appointment of Mr. D. Hordijk. In September 2016, Mr. A. Loman left Agrifirm
in a most becoming way, amongst other things by organising a symposium about sustainable agriculture. The
employees and the Members Council, as the representatives of Agrifirm's members, each in their own way said
farewell to this inspiring, committed and competent Chairman of the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board
once again would like to take this opportunity to thank Mr. A. Loman for his many years of effort and wishes him
and his family lots of happiness and prosperity for the future. The Supervisory Board wishes Mr. D. Hordijk lots of
success in fulfilling the position of new Chairman of the Executive Board.
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A site was made to the Nuscience sites and production facilities in Brasil in 2016. The newChairman
Mr. D. Hordijk took part in this trip. During these visits, the group spoke with local management and sales
managers about trends and strategy. In addition the group spoke with customers, who in some situations were
united in smaller, local cooperatives. The trip was also made in light of the upcoming departure of Mr. A. Loman.
A remuneration-, a nomination- and an audit committee operate within the Supervisory Board:
> The remuneration committee comprises Mr. T.P. Koekkoek (committee chairman), Mr. A.M.M. Lammers,
Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp and Mr. J.T.P.M. Rooijakkers. After the standing down of Mr. J.T.P.M. Rooijakkers, his
position was left vacant since the division of tasks is depending on the qualities of the new Supervisory Board
members that would be elected. The position will be filled in 2017. The task of this committee is to prepare the
decision-making process concerning the remuneration policy and the individual remunerations of the members
of the Executive Board. The remuneration committee met several times to discuss the performance and
remuneration of the Executive Board. Decisions on this subject were taken by the full Supervisory Board.
> The nomination committee comprises Mr. T.P. Koekkoek (committee chairman) and Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp on
behalf of the members of the Supervisory Board. During the re-election of Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp,
Mr. M.G. Scholtens took temporarily the position of Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp. In addition, the committee also
comprises two members from the members council and one member from Agrifirm’s central works council.
The task of the nomination committee is to issue recommendations to the members council in support of new
appointments and reappointments in the Supervisory Board. This committee met several times during the past
year and, among other things, met with the candidates eligible for reappointment. In addition, a profile was
developed to enable the right candidate to be selected to fill the vacancy that arose. During the course of the
year, multiple candidates were interviewed for this vacancy. This resulted in the nomination and appointment
of Ms. E.W. Friesen-Leibbrandt and Ms. M.H.A. Philipsen.
> The audit committee comprises Mr. A.M.M. Lammers (committee chairman), Mr. M.G. Scholtens and
Mr. A.A.J.M. Kamp. The audit committee performs preparatory tasks related to the accuracy and
completeness of the financial reporting, the accounting and internal control systems, risk management,
compliance with laws and regulations, as well as the appointment and work methods of the external auditor.
The audit committee met several times with and without the presence of the external auditor. During its
meetings, the committee also discussed the financial state of affairs, information technology and progress of
risk management. Additionally, the performance of the external auditor was evaluated.
The Supervisory Board, in its meeting of 27 February 2017, attended by the external auditor, was informed of the
2016 financial result. The 2016 result was at a satisfactory level.
Looking back on 2016, Agrifirm has proven to be a stable company whose result again reached a high level.
A significant amount of the 2016 result will be paid to members. This way Agrifirm once again demonstrates the
importance of putting the interests of its members first and foremost. Together with the Members Council, the
cooperative values were reconfirmed in 2016. Agrifirm is there for its members. Agrifirm wants to contribute to the
creation of responsible food chains for future generations as our members are doing as well.
In the new year challenges lie ahead relating to market developments, the phosphate regulations and the bird flu,
but we trust on the strength of our cooperative.
We thank all employees, all members and customers all of whom, each in his/her own way, have contributed to
these results!
Apeldoorn, 27 February 2017
Supervisory board of the Agrifirm Group BV
T.P. Koekkoek > Chairman
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4.

Report of the Executive Board
Result in challenging market satisfying
Royal Agrifirm Group achieved a good result of 30.6 million euros despite the turbulent markets that, together with
the exceptional weather conditions, characterised 2016. The focus on core activities is increasingly bearing fruit.
Further growth of the result is necessary and possible and a refined strategy has been initiated for this purpose. A
strategy that is even more focused on leveraging the unique portfolio of products, consulting services and
concepts across the full width the agricultural sectors. Matching available or new knowledge to market needs
provides plenty of opportunities. Agrifirm is fully focused on the digital use of this knowledge. The Cooperative's
foundation is strong with members payments totalling over 33 million euros.
TURBULENT MARKETS AND EXCEPTIONAL CONDITIONS
Low milk prices, a cautious recovery of pig meat prices that have been low for years, exceptional weather
conditions that had a varied but strong impact on various crops and the bird flu at the end of the year put a high
demand on the entrepreneurship of livestock farmers and growers in Europe. For dairy farmers in the Netherlands
the phosphate regulations were a further issue.
Globally, the raw material markets entered calmer waters causing feed prices to show a negative trend. This
cheaper feed was an opportunity in time to farmers in the pig farming sector who for years, struggled just to
achieve acceptable results. Dairy farmers were confronted with significantly declining milk prices and the cheaper
feed was a welcome advantage for them as well.
The Agrifirm Group's various global sales markets severed significant developments. For example, the pig market
in China recovered from the moderate situation of the previous years. The sales volume of the specialised feed
for young animals rose accordingly. The economic situation in Brasil deteriorated due to the major political unrest
in that country. Although this unrest has not (yet) affected the food production sector, the weaker currency is
resulting in lower economic returns. The specialties market in Southern Europe is developing in a positive way.
Agrifirm Polska has exhibited stable growth year after year, particularly in the poultry sector. For the third year in a
row, Agrifirm Polska succeeded in growing its volume faster than the market and in double digits. This is reflected
in the growth of its profit. The expectation is that the Polish agricultural sector will continue to further develop over
the coming years.
Agrifirm Magyarország (Hungary) experienced a challenging year. The sector was under pressure and, in
particular, a number of weaker slaughterhouses did not survive. The Hungarian animal feed market is stable and
is expected to remain stable the coming years. As is well-known, the competition in the market is high and in view
of recent developments relating to the bird flu in this country is expected to further increase. With good products
supplemented with high-quality advice, Agrifirm Magyarország (Hungary) will reinforce its position here with a
focus on future-proof companies.
MEMBER COMPANIES
Agrifirm Plant had an excellent year during which it once again managed to gain new customers for its key
product groups. This is an important development, because this reinforces Agrifirm Plant's position in the crop
protection product and fertiliser segments. The company furthermore cooperates with other companies, such as
ForFarmers, relating to procurement activities.
The late start and the exceptional weather conditions (major precipitation volumes in short periods of time)
resulted in an exceptional season. Due to Agrifirm Plant's knowledge it was able to provide growers with the right
advice and it will be able to continue to do so in the future. Agrifirm is accustomed to focusing on further
development of knowledge relating to consulting services and concepts and will continue to increase this focus.
Even more specific consulting services will become possible due to the use of a wide range of digital
developments. Agrifirm Plant is and will continue to be a leader in the market in this area.
In terms of product sales, Agrifirm has managed to realise good prices in various markets. The pool system
provides room for trading at the right time, and more and more growers are taking advantage of this. In the
cereals segment, the from-the-farm concept has proven its value in spite of the tremendous cereal harvesting
peaks that alternated with severe rain storms.
Agrifirm Plant Germany's loss-making operations have been winded down, as a result of which Agrifirm Plant now
is primarily active in the Netherlands. However, an assessment is currently underway to determine if its current
knowledge (to improve the cultivation of crops) can be applied worldwide. A letter of intent to enter into a
partnership with a large potato starch farm in China was signed in November 2016.
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Agrifirm Feed experienced a difficult year. Many farmers in the pig farming sector especially sought out products
with the lowest possible price. At times this resulted in a different balance between performance and costs. This
resulted initially in a loss of customers. Agrifirm managed by accommodating to the changes in the market to
reverse this negative trend later in the year and to get back onto the road to increased volume. The investment in
the plant in Veghel (the Netherlands), caused service levels to come under pressure this year, but the plant is well
on its way to supplying a far more constant quality pig feed, which has a positive impact on the relationship with
existing customers and offers opportunities for acquiring new customers. This investment in the pig feed of the
future will be completed in 2017.
In 2015, the dairy herd grew significantly following the elimination of the milk quota. Agrifirm profited from this as
well through means of higher sales volumes. In 2016, the herd proved to have grown too fast which impacted the
price of milk and resulted in additional environmental measures. This in turn caused dairy farmers to significantly
lower their targets and resulted in lower feed consumption. An excellent hay growing season further reinforced
this development. Agrifirm is taking a decrease in the dairy herd throughout 2017 into account.
In the poultry farming sector, a great deal of attention was devoted to the switchover to a livestock farming system
with greater consumer acceptance. Agrifirm's customers were leading in this development. The result was that
fewer animals were deployed, resulting in a reduced feed sales volume. The increased acquisition of customers
enabled the company to reduce the loss in volume.
EUROPEAN FEED COMPANIES: SOME UPS AND DOWNS
Agrifirm Polska experienced an excellent year in terms of turnover growth and positive results. The acquisition of
Paszmark has furthermore opened up a larger operating area. Agrifirm Magyarország (Hungary) experienced a
difficult year, because multiple poultry slaughterhouses ran into financial problems. This had and still has a direct
impact on the financial situation of poultry farmers and on their feed payment behaviour. This development made
it necessary to carefully review customer profiles and to choose payment certainty over acquiring new customers.
A reduced contribution from Hungary was the result. The plans for 2017 also provide for a lower profit
contribution.
By the end of 2016, Agrifirm Belgium had recovered from the disappointing results it experienced at the beginning
of the year. The difficult situation experienced by pig farmers was an issue here as well. Furthermore, poultry
farmers did not initiate any new broods due to the low egg prices. The number of egg contracts Agrifirm has in
Belgium is now rapidly declining. The company was able to acquire new customers in the laying hen poultry
farming sector.
In spite of major efforts, Agrifirm Deutschland's results continued to be disappointing. In 2016 a substantial
provision for restructuring was recorded and part of the assets has been impaired. In 2017 efforts will be devoted
to this and the outline of a solution will be defined and executed.
NUSCIENCE CONTINUES TO GROW
The successful start-up of the new plants in Drongen (Belgium) and in Tianjin (China) has a positive effect on the
results. The recovery of the pig farming sector in China is continuing in full force and is resulting in excellent
growth in sales volumes. The new plant in Drongen is responsible for the export of products to Northern Europe
and North Africa. The construction of the plant provides for further growth possibilities, which means that no major
investments will be required in the foreseeable future.
With the acquisition of Nutral (Uruguay), Nuscience managed to further develop its strength in this area. Nutral's
operating area borders on that of Nuscience in Brasil. This facilitates cooperation. Nutral contributed positively to
the result from the very beginning.
In Brasil, Nuscience is hampered by the economic unrest. This impedes the development of the livestock farming
sector.
Nuscience's expertise relating to the nutrition of young animals proves itself in existing and new markets.
CO-PRODUCTS SHOWS RECOVERY
For the second year in a row, Agrifirm Co-products managed to achieve a satisfactory result in a difficult market.
The organisational changes pay off, while the innovative plant in Den Bosch (the Netherlands) provides plenty of
opportunities for deploying more products for the animal farming sector. The cooperation with Agrifirm Feed
provided additional opportunities for increase of sales volumes.
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FOCUS ON CORE ACTIVITIES
In 2016, the sale of the shares in Agrimec Group (Abemec) to BayWa was completed. As such, Agrifirm is no
longer active in the mechanisation sector. As a company, Abemec will have more opportunities under the BayWa
banner than it would have had within Agrifirm.
Combined with the sale of the remaining shares in Plukon, Agrifirm's only remaining non-core activities relate to
retail operations (Welkoop Winkel BV and Welkoop Retail). Retail operations experienced a good year. An
excellent performance in a difficult market in which other chains reported poor results. Previously initiated cost
reduction measures, the timely anticipation of trends and the excellent relationship with customers with the
Welkoop brand are driving this success.
The contributions made by NutriControl and Agrifirm Exlan are in line with expectations. More important than their
financial contribution is their contribution to knowledge development within Agrifirm which supports our customers.
For example, Agrifirm Exlan has a very good reputation in terms of supporting livestock farmers in the area of
minerals and stable systems. As such Agrifirm Exlan fits well into Agrifirm's vision that knowledge increasingly is a
differentiating factor in supporting farmers in the primary sector. NutriControl and Agrifirm Exlan are also working
on developing and sharing knowledge within other Agrifirm companies.
RECONFIRMATION OF COOPERATIVE VALUES
In 2016, the Executive Board together with the Supervisory Board and the Members Council considered the
company's future. The cooperative values were reconfirmed during this process: Agrifirm is there for its members.
The mission calling for added value to be provided was furthermore refined to delivering measurable, relevant and
sustainable value at the farm and field level and to the animal feed industry. Agrifirm wants to contribute to the
creation of responsible food chains for future generations.
This means that Agrifirm and will go further than just optimising the results at primary farms. Agrifirm will assume
the required responsibility within the chains whenever necessary, in cooperation with sector parties, because this
is the fastest way to achieve results.
This refinement was initiated at the end of the period in which Mr. A. Loman was Chairman of the Executive
Board. After more than 30 years he departed from Agrifirm in 2016. Agrifirm is indebted to him and hopes he will
be able to enjoy his retirement in good health for a long period of time. His successor Mr. D. Hordijk is accepting
the challenge of refining Agrifirm's position with enthusiasm. Sharing current or new knowledge is key in this
respect. Knowledge helps in anticipating developments over the longer term. The 'internet of things' is a key
aspect in this respect and will enable us to effectively link things and make them accessible. Agrifirm will further
invest and devote time to this. This will be done in combination with the further internationalisation of Agrifirm. On
the basis of cooperation and customer-orientation, Agrifirm, as well as its members, will profit from this focus.
Furthermore, Agrifirm will take steps to even more closely monitor costs. In addition further investment is required
to optimise Agrifirm's processes in order to achieve operational excellence. Uniform work processes will be
developed within Agrifirm, which will significantly facilitate cooperation.
After a few years with substantial investments in new factories in Drongen (Belgium) and Tianjin (China),
renovations of the factories in the Netherlands and investments for improvement of quality, we expect to maintain
a level of investments in line with the amount of depreciation in 2017. Besides to the finalisation of the investment
in the factory of Veghel (the Netherlands), a lot of effort will be given to the development of one global ERP
system which will contribute to the ambition of Agrifirm. The restructuring of Agrifirm in Germany will affect the
number of employees, in other parts of the company no major changes are expected. The financial position of
Agrifirm is strong. Because of this we do not expect that additional financing will be necessary.
Apeldoorn, 27 February 2017
Executive Board of the Agrifirm Group BV
D. Hordijk
J.G.J. Vessies
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5.

Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A.
INTRODUCTION
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. (hereinafter: the Cooperative) is a cooperative under Dutch law and has
approximately 17,000 Dutch members. The Cooperative is managed by the Board, which is appointed by the
Cooperative’s Members Council. The Cooperative holds all shares in Agrifirm Group BV.
Agrifirm Group BV (hereinafter: Agrifirm) is a private limited company under Dutch law and functions as the
holding company of Agrifirm's group companies and participating interests.
From the perspective of corporate governance, the following management boards are relevant in terms of the
Cooperative and Agrifirm:
> the Members Council of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A.;
> the Board of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. and/or the Supervisory Board of Agrifirm Group BV;
> the Executive Board of Agrifirm Group BV.
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board (the Board) are responsible for the corporate governance
structure within Agrifirm and compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the Frijns Code). Any deviations
from the Code are supported by a sound rationale and are briefly explained in the Annual Report.
THE MEMBERS COUNCIL OF THE COOPERATIVE
The Board of the Cooperative requires the approval of the Members Council for certain resolutions as described
in the Articles of Association. Approval is required for the following (non-exclusive) items:
> amendment of the Articles of Association of the Cooperative and the Articles of Association of Agrifirm Group
BV;
> appointment of members to the Board of the Cooperative;
> important transactions, including entering into strategic partnerships and real estate transactions;
> acquisition and disposal of participating interests in group companies or minority interests;
> providing securities;
> important investments.
The Articles of Association specify when and at what amounts the above resolutions and other resolutions require
the approval of the Members Council.
The Members Council is also tasked with adopting the financial statements, Agrifirm's strategic long-term plan,
determining the profit appropriation and granting the Supervisory Board of Agrifirm Group BV discharge for the
supervision exercised and the Board of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. and the Executive Board of Agrifirm
Group BV discharge for the policies pursued.
The Board has subdivided the members of the Cooperative into ten geographically distinct districts. 70 Members
are elected to the Members Council from these districts. The Board of the Cooperative appoints members to each
district on the basis of revenues. The revenues per district are assessed every two years; the last time in January
2015.
A member of the Members Council is appointed for a period of four years and can be reappointed twice. The
various agricultural and horticultural sectors must be represented in the Members Council. In the Members
Council meeting of 8 March 2016, eight members were due to step down and were ineligible or decided not to
make themselves available for reappointment. Three new members were appointed. As a result the Members
Council consisted of 79 members as per 1 April 2016. 20 Members of the Members Council were due to step
down and eligible for reappointment; all were re-elected by acclamation. In 2017, a further decrease in the
number of members is foreseen.
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Members
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Youth council

Council of members

=
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Royal Cooperative
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=
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Agrifirm Group BV
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Division
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North West Europe

Plant
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Cluster Agrifirm Exlan and NutriControl
Agrifirm Exlan, NutriControl, Schothorst*
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Central and
Eastern Europe
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Agrifirm Polska

Agrifirm Winkel BV

Agrifirm Belgium
Agrifirm Deutschland
Agrifirm Co-products
BV Oldambt

Sto Posto* (Serbia)

Agrifirm Innovation Center

* Minority interest

Organisation Chart as at 31 December 2016

MEETINGS OF THE MEMBERS COUNCIL
The Members Council met four times in 2016. In addition to the three regularly scheduled meetings, an additional
meeting was held on 21 June 2016. Most important topic on this meeting was getting acquainted with the new
CEO of the Executive Board Mr. D. Hordijk.
Agrifirm’s 2015 financial statements were adopted by the Members Council meeting of 8 March 2016. The
Members Council also granted the Supervisory Board of Agrifirm Group BV discharge for the supervision
exercised and the Executive Board of Agrifirm Group BV and the Board of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A.
discharge for the policies pursued.
The Members Council provided the Board with a mandate for the nomination of new Supervisory Board members
as described in the Supervisory Board report.
COOPERATIVE MEMBERSHIPS
In the 14 December 2016 meeting of the Members Council, the 2016 Member Dividend was set at 1.5 percent of
the turnover in 2016. The 2015 Member Dividend on the 2016 turnover was paid in January 2017. Agrifirm also
has a Member Discount system. This even more clearly conveys the idea that in general are both customers and
members of a cooperative whose objective is to help create optimal returns at the farm level. The Member
Dividend 2016 and Member Discount over 2016 will be paid after the Members Council meeting of
14 March 2017.
Agrifirm had approximately 17,000 members at the beginning of 2016. An action was initiated in November 2016
for the purpose of terminating the membership of non-active (zero annual turnover) members. This affected
approximately 900 members. At the same time, an action was initiated to proactively approach customers with
revenues at the member companies Agrifirm Feed and/or Agrifirm Plant who are not members, in order to focus
their attention on the benefits of membership. Due to both of these actions, the number of members is presently
around 17,000.
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SECTOR COUNCILS
Within Agrifirm there are Sector Councils for the dairy farming, pig farming, laying hen poultry farming, broiler
farming and the plant-based sectors. These councils have an advisory function for the executive boards of the
Agrifirm Feed and Agrifirm Plant companies. Both in Agrifirm Feed and Agrifirm Plant an organic sounding board
is active and meetings were held with entrepreneurs active in the goat sector. All sector councils met at least
twice. The poultry farming councils have adopted a higher meeting frequency (four times). The sector council
dairy farming convened for one additional meeting discussing the developments on phosphate regulation. The
minutes of the sector councils are shared with the Members Council and the Board for information purposes.
YOUNG PEOPLE'S COUNCIL
The Agrifirm Young People’s Council organised seven meetings in 2016. At the start of the new season
(September 2016), eleven new members joined the Council following the departure of eight members. Additional
members are still required for the Young People’s Council from several districts.
Almost 450 young entrepreneurs visited the Agrifirm Young People's Day on 6 January 2016. Central theme this
day was ‘Big Data’. With focus on developments and especially the application possibilities of Big Data at the
farm. The Agrifirm Young People’s Council is the organiser and host for this day.
THE GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF AGRIFIRM GROUP BV
The Cooperative holds 100 percent of the shares in Agrifirm Group BV. The Board of the Cooperative, on behalf
of the Cooperative, exercises the voting rights in the general meeting of Shareholders of Agrifirm Group BV; in
certain instances – as described in the Articles of Association – it does so subject to the prior approval of the
Members Council.
THE BOARD OF THE COOPERATIVE
The Board of the Cooperative is responsible for all of the Cooperative’s operations. This includes looking after the
interests of the members of the Cooperative in the companies directed by Agrifirm Group BV and its group
companies. The Board of the Cooperative comprises eight members, five of whom come from the agricultural and
horticultural sectors. These members are selected from among the members of the Cooperative, supplemented
by three external members: a financial specialist (financial profile) and two specialists in the area of strategy and
managing large (international) enterprises (management profile). The members of the Board are appointed by the
Members Council on the basis of the nominations submitted by the Board. The Members Council may also
dismiss a member of the Board. The Board of the Cooperative also forms the Supervisory Board of Agrifirm
Group BV. Each Board member is appointed for a period of four years and can be reappointed twice.
Performance is assessed after each term. External members can be reappointed only once.
To implement the provisions of the Management and Supervision Act (Public and Private Companies) that went
into effect on 1 January 2013, the balance of seats held by women and men is specifically taken into
consideration when new Board members are appointed. At the present time there are two women with a seat on
the Board (and therefore on the Supervisory Board). The Board continue to give attention to diversification in the
Board.
THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF AGRIFIRM GROUP BV
The Supervisory Board (which forms a personal union together with the Board of the Cooperative) appoints the
members of the Executive Board, supervises its performance, and has the authority to approve certain decisions
of the Executive Board – as described in the Articles of Association – including:
> the long-term strategic plan;
> important transactions, including entering into strategic partnerships and real estate transactions;
> acquisition and disposal of participating interests in group companies or minority interests;
> important investments;
> acquiring bank loans and issuing securities.
The Articles of Association specify when and at what amounts the above decisions and other decisions require
the approval of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board has a Remuneration, Nomination and Audit
Committee.
The committees do not have any independent decision-making authorities and report to the full Supervisory
Board.
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THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OF AGRIFIRM GROUP BV
Effective from 1 January 2016, Agrifirm’s Executive Board comprises two persons: the Chairman (CEO) and the
Financial Director (CFO). The Executive Board is responsible for the strategy, policy and operating activities
within Agrifirm. The Executive Board is appointed for an indeterminate period of time. The Executive Board's
terms and conditions of employment are established by the Supervisory Board.
AGRIFIRM AND THE DUTCH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Agrifirm voluntarily applies the Corporate Governance Code. The Board and the Executive Board have committed
to the Members Council that they will give substance to the Corporate Governance Structure and that they will
comply with the Code. The voluntary application means that the Code can be tailored to Agrifirm and its
cooperative character. Any deviations from the Code will be supported by a sound rationale for the benefit of the
Members Council. Substantial changes will be submitted to the Members Council. In addition, Agrifirm has an
Ethical Business Code of Conduct and a Whistle-blowing Procedure.
Deviations from the Code
Agrifirm deviates from the Corporate Governance Code in five areas:
> The Executive Board of Agrifirm Group BV is appointed for an indeterminate period of time. The provision
stipulating that members of the Executive Board should be appointed for a period of four years has therefore
not been implemented (Best Practice II.1.1 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code). The ability of the
Cooperative to influence the performance of the members of the Executive Board is anchored due to the fact
that the Board of the Cooperative:
- holds the full voting rights in the general meeting of Shareholders of Agrifirm Group BV;
- forms a personal union with the members of the Supervisory Board of Agrifirm Group BV;
- nominates the members of the Supervisory Board of Agrifirm Group BV.
> The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board in view of the
major importance Agrifirm attaches to the coordinating role of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board in
relation to the remuneration of the members of the Executive Board.
> The discharge of other Supervisory Board memberships and ancillary positions by Supervisory Board
members as well as Executive Board members will be assessed on an individual basis by the Supervisory
Board in terms of the nature and the time requirements of the Supervisory Board memberships and/or the
ancillary positions. Every member of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board must ensure that he/she
can devote sufficient time and attention to Agrifirm, thus ensuring the proper discharge of responsibilities.
> The remuneration and other contractual agreements for the individual members of the Executive Board are
not published (Best Practice II.2 of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code).
> Finally, in general, the following components/provisions have not been adopted:
- provisions related to listed companies, shares, options and/or securities;
- the publication of sensitive information on the company's website;
- a one-tier management structure;
- the issue of depositary receipts for shares;
- the responsibilities of institutional investors and shareholders.
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6.

Risk management
RISK PROFILE
Agrifirm’s activities expose it to a wide range of financial and operational risks. Agrifirm management
acknowledges that managing risks is an essential element of doing business. Accepting a certain level of risk is a
prerequisite for achieving the Agrifirm’s strategic objectives and financial targets. The achievement of business
objectives is contingent, in part, on external economic factors, the unpredictability of market developments,
disasters and human factors.
Risk management is continuously in development in order to embed risk management at all levels in the
organisation, from the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board to the operational and financial departments.
This enables Agrifirm to assess risks and determine measures to manage the risks to which Agrifirm is exposed.
RISKS, IMPACT AND RISK APPETITE
Agrifirm is active in various markets in a number of countries. Inherent to these activities, the company is facing
strategic, operational, financial and compliance risks. Where possible and relevant, these risks are mitigated or
controlled. The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are responsible for risk management and the internal
control systems in Agrifirm.
In general, Agrifirm has a low risk appetite with respect to significant business risks. A risk’s significance is
determined by the likelihood of it occurring and its potential impact on Agrifirm’s strategic objectives and financial
targets.
An overview of the most important risks for realising the strategy and measures taken to control these risks, if
feasible from a cost perspective, is given below.
Strategic risks:
Agrifirm has to make significant investments in order to reach its strategic targets. The risk appetite regarding
these investments is low. Possible risks related to further growth and acquisitions are controlled through a
strategic plan and targets related to growth and financing. As a result of the control measures, Agrifirm is able to
reduce the impact of a potential risk when it occurs to an acceptable level. Therefore the financial consequences
are expected to be limited.
Operational risks:
The main operational risks are related to the volatility of commodity prices, quality of raw materials and liquidity of
customers. Due to the internationally spread of activities of Agrifirm, managing these risks is very important.
There is some risk appetite related to volatility of commodity prices, while the preparedness to accept risks related
to the quality of raw materials is low. Volatility of commodity prices and a mismatch between purchase- and
selling positions are being controlled by monitoring positions and continuous attention for cost efficiency.
Additionally, to control this risk guidelines are defined to set boundaries if and when a certain position has to be
taken.
Animal diseases may have an adverse effect on the number of animals and additional costs for transportation. By
securing the quality of raw materials, providing information to livestock farmers, geographical spread of the
activities and the availability of contingency plans, which are tested regularly, Agrifirm limits this risk.
The impact when a potential risk related to this subject occurs, is expected to be manageable for Agrifirm due to
the control measures taken. The continuous changes in the global markets, requires Agrifirm to monitor and
measure the risks constantly. Therefore, the process of risk management is implemented as an integrated part of
the business processes. As a result financial consequences can be maintained to an acceptable low level.
Volatility of the financial performance of our customers, because of strong fluctuations of prices for their products,
necessary investments and changes in law- and regulations, may results in pressure on the liquidity of customers
and increasing payments risks. Therefore, tight debtor management is an important part in every business
department. Customers will be reviewed on different criteria before delivering. Where necessary and possible,
additional securities will be formalised. Even more, risks will be ensured. Open balances will be monitored
permanently. When the payment risks increased, the customer will be contacted in an early stadium to limit the
risks as much as possible.
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Financial risks:
Financial risks are partly inherent to the strategic targets. Risk appetite of these risks is varying per type of risk.
The appetite to accept interest risks is in principle low. As regards to currency risks, these will be evaluated per
type of currency risk. In principle the risk appetite is low.
In 2015 Agrifirm entered into a new credit facility. Several scenarios were made to determine the necessary
funding. A ‘multi-currency revolving credit facility’ amounting to € 250 million was obtained for a period of at least
five years. This covers the liquidity risk sufficiently.
Liquidity-, interest- and currency risks are being hedged by means of interest swaps and currency forward
contracts and periodic liquidity planning. These treasury activities are predominantly taking place at Agrifirm
Group level.
The current geopolitical developments and the volatility of the global economy, made it very difficult to estimate
exactly the possible impact these risks could have. Currency exposures did have a significant impact on
translation of results of operating companies located in countries with a currency other than the euro. Agrifirm is
constantly alert in order to minimize the impact.
Compliance risks:
The acceptation of risks that there is a situation of non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, is very
low. This is controlled by adopting an internal compliance code, ‘horizontaal toezicht’ and internal control
procedures. This reduces the chance that non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations will occur.
RISK MANAGEMENT MEASURES
In designing and evaluating the structure of our risk management and control systems, the internationally
acknowledged COSO framework for internal control is used as a frame of reference. This has been expanded in
the Agrifirm Corporate Guidelines, which also covers a joint, risk-based framework of internal controls.
Within Agrifirm this is an on-going process of identifying, analysing, validating, monitoring and evaluating
significant risk areas and the controls in place, and of communicating and reporting about such process with the
help of a risk register which enable the group companies to report about their risks, classifications and mitigating
measures. The risk management model is used by all group companies of Agrifirm. The first responsibility for the
internal control system lies with the management of the group companies. The model provides management of
group companies with tools to identify, classify and control risks, and to report them to the Executive Board in an
unambiguous way. During 2015 the risk registers were developed further resulting in more uniformity in
classification of risks, clearer links to the hard and soft controls and better sharing of best practices between the
group companies. Yearly, the risks registers are subject to discussions between the Executive Board and
management of the group companies. Progress on mitigating risks is an integral part of the management reports.
Additionally, the progress and the top risks are shared with the Supervisory Board.
Agrifirm also has the following guidelines, procedures, systems and organisational measures in place for
controlling its business processes:
> principles for the code of conduct and an ethical business code of conduct governing all employees of
Agrifirm;
> whistle-blowing procedures;
> systems for operational and financial planning, such as setting budgets and other operational and financial
targets;
> guidelines and procedures for the format and drafting of management reports and financial reporting;
> periodic review of the achievement of set targets based on pre-defined critical success factors for all
operational and functional disciplines;
> guidelines and procedures for financing activities and controlling currency, interest rate risks and fixed-term
deposits;
> guidelines for the continuity and reliability of electronic data processing;
> guidelines for the management of production processes and quality controls based on internationally
recognised and certified methodologies and in line with the applicable laws and regulations in the countries in
which Agrifirm operates;
> a quality assurance system for raw materials;
> guidelines for internal control and monitoring, including authorisation procedures and segregation of duties;
> letters of representation for Agrifirm’s group companies;
> internal audit function.
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The complete set of the controls listed above ensures that reasonable assurance is obtained that strategic and
operational objectives are achieved, that the company’s (financial) reporting is reliable and that relevant laws and
rules are complied with.
In 2016, as part of their assignment to audit Agrifirm's annual financial statements, the external auditor performed
independent audits in order to check to what extent the system of internal control and administrative organisation
were adequate. These audits were performed according to a program set up in consultation with the audit
committee of the Supervisory Board. The information thus collected is used to make improvements to the internal
risk management and control systems.
Agrifirm and the Dutch Tax authorities signed the covenant ‘horizontaal toezicht’ for the fiscal unity of Koninklijke
Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. In this covenant the framework is laid down how the Tax authorities and Agrifirm
cooperate in order to work effectively and efficiently together. Important condition to be able to apply for this
covenant is to show the quality of the internal control processes related to taxes. The Tax authorities reviewed
these processes and existing discussion points with the Tax authorities were solved.
Despite with how much care these systems and controls are designed, they do not provide absolute assurance
that operational and financial corporate objectives will be achieved. Neither can all inaccuracies, errors or
violations of laws and regulations be prevented using these systems.
BUSINESS PLANNING AND REVIEW
The company pursues a system of budgeting and planning using standard procedures and detailed guidelines.
The Executive Board regularly reviews with the management boards of the group companies the achievement of
strategic and operational objectives, as a result of periodic financial and operational reports, the annual budgeting
cycle and risk analysis. The risk monitoring results are reviewed. The risk management model consequently
forms an integral part of Agrifirm’s business planning and budgeting control cycle.
MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
The Executive Board is responsible for managing the risks associated with the company’s objectives and the
reliability of the internal and external financial and other reports. Agrifirm bases its internal control structure on the
principle that the management of the group companies bears the primary responsibility for the day-to-day
performance, compliance and monitoring of the systems that have been put in place to manage the key
operational risks, to which the group company is exposed, as well as possible.
With respect to the limitations that are inevitably inherent to any risk management and internal control system, our
internal risk management and control systems provide reasonable assurance that our financial reports are free of
material misstatement and that these systems were adequate and effective in 2016.
The phrase ‘reasonable assurance’ has been used for the level of assurance that would be provided by a director
acting with due care under the given circumstances. The set of procedures involving the internal risk management
and control systems, and the related findings, recommendations and measures have been discussed with the
audit committee, the Supervisory Board and the external auditor.
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7.

Financial statements
(all amounts are stated in thousands of euros unless indicated otherwise)
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7.1 Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
(after appropriation of profit)

ASSETS (in thousands of euros)
Non-current assets
Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill
Software
Prepayments on intangible fixed assets

Note

2016

2015

1
39,151
7,230
1,743

33,165
8,130
1,184
48,124

Property, plant & equipment
Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Other fixed assets
Fixed assets under construction
Assets not employed in business operations

42,479

2
110,532
106,708
20,312
10,901
2,536

113,720
96,979
20,254
21,266
2,690
250,989

Financial fixed assets
Participating interests
Other non-current assets
Deferred tax assets

254,909

3
6,825
10,768
18,805

10,549
15,941
18,429
36,398

Current assets
Inventories
Raw materials and consumables
Finished product and goods for resale
Livestock

44,919

4
70,976
107,396
3,952

71,048
141,887
4,138
182,324

Receivables
Trade receivables
Taxes and social security contributions
Other current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS
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217,073

5
178,417
7,288
28,852

6

200,452
7,493
20,331
214,557

228,276

119,596

64,052

851,988

851,708

LIABILITIES (in thousands of euros)
Equity
Group equity
Shareholders’ equity
Non-controlling interest

Note

2016

2015

7
451,721
1,122

436,392
6,636
452,843

Liabilities
Provisions
Pensions
Deferred tax liabilities
Other provisions

443,028

8
211
1,183
13,573

294
844
7,535
14,967

Non-current liabilities
Debt
Other non-current liabilities

8,673

9
1,120
20,265

1,821
21,284
21,385

Current liabilities
Bank debts
Trade payables
Taxes and social security contributions
Other current liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES
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23,105

10
51,138
156,435
15,269
139,951

52,586
181,849
20,231
122,236
362,793

376,902

851,988

851,708

7.2 Consolidated profit & loss account

(in thousands of euros)

Note

Net turnover
Other operating income

11

2016
2,170,360
13,481

Total revenues
Cost of raw materials and consumables
Personnel costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating expenses

12
13
14

-1,693,655
-191,757
-44,706
-222,065

Operating income
15
15

2,393,726
-1,892,076
-185,554
-37,950
-230,152

-2,152,183

-2,345,732

31,658

47,994

1,949
-4,738

2,043
-9,392

Net finance expenses

-2,789

-7,349

Profit before income tax

28,869

40,645

-11,560
13,834

-9,800
46,465

31,143

77,310

-540

-1,080

30,603

76,230

Income taxes
Result participating interests

16

Profit for the period
Non-controlling interest

NET INCOME

22

2,385,246
8,480
2,183,841

Total operating expenses

Financial income
Financial expenses

2015
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7

7.3 Consolidated cash flow statement

(in thousands of euros)

Note

2016

Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income for the period with
cash flow from operating activities:
> Depreciation and amortisation
> Provisions
> Result sale of assets and group companies
> Others

2015
31,658

13
8

44,706
5,883
-5,022
1,018

47,994

37,950
-7,312
-494
280
46,585

Changes in working capital:
> Inventories
> Trade receivables
> Other current assets
> Trade payables
> Other current liabilities

4
5
5
10
10

22,012
18,314
-8,403
-18,261
12,450

30,424

-13,325
-20,883
1,532
14,914
9,478
26,112

Interest received
Dividend received
Interest paid
Income tax paid

2,594
1,585
-4,856
-9,898

Cash flow from operating activities
Capital expenditure
Proceeds from sale of assets
Divestments/investments financial fixed assets
Divestments/Investments in group companies

1, 2
1, 2
3
3

New debts
Repayment of debts
Member Dividend / Member Discount and third party dividend
Cash flow from financing activities
Net cash flow
Exchange and translation gains and losses
on cash and cash equivalents

CHANGE CASH AND CURRENT BANK DEBT
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3,254
1,338
-8,226
-8,294
-10,575

-11,928

93,780

58,206

-36,055
6,708
19,646
-12,337

Cash flow used in investing activities

-8,284

-54,533
3,064
70,879
-29,768
-22,038

9
9
7

335
-1,538
-15,089

-10,358
49,524
-3,738
-11,069

-16,292

34,717

55,450

82,565

1,660

-1,654

57,110

80,911

7.4 Accounting policies used in preparing consolidated financial statements
(all amounts are stated in thousands of euros unless indicated otherwise)

INTRODUCTION AND EXPLANATORY NOTES
These are the financial statements of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A., established at 1 June 2010, having its
registered offices in Apeldoorn, the Netherlands, registered in the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in
Apeldoorn under number 08226836. The core activities of the group are producing and selling animal feed and
selling of several other products and materials for the agriculture sector.
The company financial statements as well as the consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in
accordance with the statutory requirements of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the firm
pronouncements in the Dutch Accounting Standards for Annual Reporting in the Netherlands as issued by the
Dutch Accounting Standards Board. The financial statements has been prepared dated 27 February 2017.
GENERAL
The accounting policies adopted for the valuation of assets and liabilities and the determination of the result are
based on historical costs. Unless stated otherwise, assets and liabilities are shown at amortised cost price. An
asset is included in the balance sheet when it is probable that its expected future economic benefits will flow to
the company and the value of these benefits can be reliably measured. A liability is included in the balance sheet
if it is expected that its settlement will result in an outflow of funds and the amount thereof can be reliably
measured. The income and expenses are accounted for in the period to which they relate.
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the relevant rules requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the Executive Board to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
group’s accounting policies. The principal judgments and estimates, including underlying assumptions, are a test
of any impairment, deferred taxes and provisions. If necessary for the purposes of providing the view required
under Section 362(1), Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code, the nature of these estimates and judgments, including the
related assumptions, is disclosed in the notes to the financial statement.
CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as Agrifirm) are included in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ending on 31 December 2016. The subsidiaries are fully
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements and all mutual balance sheet items, income and expenses
within Agrifirm are fully eliminated. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are drawn up for the same
reporting year as that of the parent company using consistent accounting policies. The initial consolidation or
deconsolidation follows on the date on which control is obtained and until the date that control no longer exists.
Minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated financial statements. Minority interests in group
companies are part of group equity. Minority interests in profit or loss of group companies are deducted from
group profit or loss after taxation.
If the losses attributable to the minority interest exceed the minority interest in equity of the group companies, the
balance as well as any further losses are accounted for Agrifirm, unless and to the extent that the minority
shareholder is liable for, and able to bear, those. If the group companies subsequently achieve profits, those
profits accountable for by Agrifirm until the losses borne by Agrifirm have been compensated.
PARTICIPATION IN GROUP COMPANIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The participating interests are held via Agrifirm Group BV and are fully consolidated. Unless otherwise indicated,
the participating interests are 100% (2015: 100%) owned.
In accordance with Section 379 and 414, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, a list of data of group companies and
other interests associated with the financial statements has been filed in the Trade Register of the Chamber of
Commerce, the Netherlands. Agrifirm’s key group companies are as follows:
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Holding and corporate services
> Agrifirm Group BV, Apeldoorn, the Netherlands
Division North West Europe
> Agrifirm Feed BV, Apeldoorn, the Netherlands
> Agrifirm Belgium NV, Grobbendonk, Belgium
> Agrifirm Deutschland GmbH, Greven, Germany
> BV Oldambt, Oostwold, the Netherlands
> Bonda’s Veevoederbureau BV, Hillegom, the Netherlands
> Agrifirm Innovation Center BV, Apeldoorn, the Netherlands
Division Arable farming
> Agrifirm Plant BV, Apeldoorn, the Netherlands
Division Specialties
> Nuscience Group NV, Drongen, Belgium
> Pre-Mervo BV, Utrecht, the Netherlands
Cluster Central and Eastern Europe
> Agrifirm Polska Sp. Zoo, Szamotuły, Poland
> Agrifirm Magyarország Zrt., Kaba, Hungary
Cluster NutriControl and Agrifirm Exlan
> NutriControl BV, Veghel, the Netherlands
> Agrifirm Exlan BV, Apeldoorn, the Netherlands
Cluster Services
> Welkoop Winkel BV, Ede, the Netherlands
> Welkoop Retail BV, Ede, the Netherlands
Non-controlling interests
Important non-controlling interests held via Agrifirm Group BV which are excluded from the consolidation:
> Schothorst Feed Research BV (18.9%), Lelystad, the Netherlands
> Sto Posto DOO (35.0%), Belgrade, Serbia
SECTION 402, BOOK 2, OF THE DUTCH CIVIL CODE APPLIED
Since the profit & loss account for 2016 of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. is included in the consolidated
financial statements, an abridged profit & loss account has been disclosed in the company financial statements in
accordance with Section 402, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code.
PRIOR-YEAR COMPARISON
The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented.
MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS
Acquisitions are recognized in the financial statements according to the purchase accounting method. This means
that any assets and liabilities acquired are carried at fair value as at the acquisition date. The difference between
cost and the company’s share of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired at the time of the
transaction of a participating interest is recognized as goodwill.
POLICIES FOR THE TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, the functional and presentation currency of the
entity. Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially carried at the functional exchange rates ruling at the
date of transaction. Monetary balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary balance sheet items that are measured
at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the functional exchange rates ruling at the date of
transaction. Non-monetary balance sheet items that are measured at current value are translated at the functional
exchange rates ruling at the date of valuation.
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Exchange differences arising on the settlement or translation of monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies recovered in taken to the profit and loss account, with the exception of exchange differences resulting
from net investments in foreign activities, or from loans taken out to finance or effectively hedge net investments
in foreign activities. These exchange differences are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve. The
foreign currency translation reserve is included under the legal reserves.
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary balance sheet items denominated in foreign
currencies that are carried at current value are taken directly to the revaluation reserve, provided the changes in
value of the non-monetary items are likewise taken directly to reserves.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of a
foreign activity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign activity and translated at the rate of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date.
The assets and liabilities of foreign activities are translated into the presentation currency (euros) at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and the income and expenses of these foreign activities are translated
at the rates ruling on the transaction date. Resulting exchange rate differences are taken directly to the legal
foreign currency translation reserve. On the disposal of a foreign activity, the cumulative exchange differences
taken directly to the reserves, are taken to the profit and loss account as part of the gain or loss on the sale.
OFFSETTING
Assets and liabilities are only offset in the financial statements if and to the extent that:
> an enforceable legal right exists to offset the assets and liabilities and settle them simultaneously; and
> the positive intention is to settle the assets and liabilities on a net basis or simultaneously.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments include loans granted, trade and other receivables, cash items, loans and other financing
commitments, trade and other payables, as well as derivatives and derivative financial instruments. Financial
instruments embedded in contracts are recognised in accordance with the host contract.
Loans granted, trade and other receivables
Loans granted, trade and other receivables are carried at amortised cost, less impairment losses.
Loans and other financial obligations
Loans and other financial obligations are carried at amortised cost.
Derivative financial instruments
Agrifirm uses derivative financial instruments to hedge the exchange and interest rate risks arising from primary
financial instruments. Agrifirm also uses derivative financial instruments to hedge the exchange rate risks arising
from future sales and purchases in foreign currencies. Forward exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and other
derivative financial instruments are used to hedge exchange rate and interest rate risks.
DERIVATES AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING
The group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to
hedge its risks associated with interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Under Dutch Accounting Standard
290, on initial recognition, the group classifies the derivatives on a portfolio basis in the subcategories listed
below.
Currency and forward commodity contracts
Forward commodity contracts with a listed underlying value will only be closed and held for own use. Agrifirm
applies cost price hedge accounting in order to simultaneously recognise both the results from changes in the
value of the currency and forward commodity contract (forward contract) and the future hedged transaction in the
profit and loss account.
The group documents the following:
> the general hedging strategy and the way in which the hedging relationships are in line with risk management
objectives and the expected effectiveness of these hedging relationships;
> the nature of the hedging instruments involved and hedged positions.
The application of cost price hedge accounting leads to the following exception to the above-mentioned
accounting policies and accounting treatment for financial instruments. As long as the forward contract concerns
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an expected future transaction, the forward contract will not be revalued. As soon as the hedged position of the
expected future transaction leads to the recognition of a financial asset or financial liability, the gains or losses
associated with the forward contract are recognised in the profit or loss account in the same period in which the
asset or liability affects the profit or loss. The results from the non-effective part of the hedge relationship are
included in the profit and loss account. If a forward contract no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, expires or is
sold, the hedging relationship is terminated. The cumulative profit or loss that has not yet been included in the
profit and loss account is recognised as deferred income/liability on the balance sheet until the expected
transaction has taken place. Should the transaction no longer be expected to take place, the accumulated profit or
the accumulated loss is reclassified to the profit and loss account.
Interest rate swaps
Interest received and paid in relation to interest rate swaps are accounted for in the profit and loss account in the
period to which they relate. Unsettled interest income and expense is presented under receivables and accrued
income and current liabilities and accruals respectively. If an interest rate swap no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting, expires or is sold, the hedging relationship is terminated. The cumulative profit or loss that has not yet
been included in the profit and loss account is recognised as deferred income/liability on the balance sheet until
the expected transaction has taken place. Should the transaction no longer be expected to take place, the
accumulated profit or the accumulated loss is reclassified to the profit and loss account.
INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
An intangible fixed asset is recognized in the balance sheet if:
> it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will accrue to the group; and
> the cost of the asset can be reliably measured.
Intangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less annual straight-line depreciation over a maximum of ten
years and any impairment losses. Impairment losses are accounted for if the realisable value is lower than the
book value. The realisable value is the higher of the net selling price or value in use. Impairment losses and
amortisation are directly accounted for in the profit and loss account. Research and development expenditure is
not capitalised but is treated as costs in the year in which it is incurred.
Goodwill
Intangible fixed assets obtained in the acquisition of a group company are recognised against fair value at the
time of acquisition. When the fair value of an intangible fixed asset cannot be determined by reference to an
active market, the asset value is limited such that it does not create or increase negative goodwill. In case of an
acquisition, the negative difference between the acquisition price and Agrifirm’s share in the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities at the time of acquisition is recognised as badwill in the balance sheet. This
badwill is released to the profit and loss account with the occurrence of operational losses which were expected at
the time of acquisition.
An acquisition is recognised in the financial statements based on the purchase accounting method. In the case of
an acquisition, the positive difference between the acquisition price and Agrifirm’s share in the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities at the time of the acquisition is recognised as goodwill in the balance sheet.
Goodwill is amortised over the estimated life with a maximum of 5 years for a commercial company and 10 years
for a production company. These estimated lives are based on the nature and foreseeable estimated life of the
acquired business, the stability and foreseeable estimated life of the industry sector, as well as the estimated
employment term of key persons and the extent to which the business depends on the existing management
team. Permitted adjustments to the purchase price result in an adjustment of goodwill. Subsequent adjustments to
the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities are reflected in goodwill, provided the adjustment is made before
the end of the first full book year after the acquisition.
Research & development
Research and development expenses are not capitalised, in general the benefits will be realised directly by the
members and not by Agrifirm.
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Other intangible fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets including software will be depreciated on a straight-line basis over five years. Other
intangible fixed assets include the capitalised external expenditures relating to the implementation of one global
ERP system within Agrifirm. A legal reserve amounting to these external expenditures is included under equity.
PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Property, plant & equipment are carried at cost or cost of manufacture less straight-line depreciation based on the
remaining expected useful economic life and the residual value of the asset concerned. In general, buildings are
depreciated over a maximum of 25 years, plant and machinery over ten years and other tangible fixed assets over
three to five years. In the event that tangible fixed assets are impaired, they are stated at their realisable value,
provided this is permanently less than their book value. The realisable value of land and buildings is determined
on the basis of valuations conducted by independent appraisers (net realisable value). The realisable value of
plant and machinery is determined on the basis of their value in use taking into account the future use of the
assets concerned. Any immovable property that is not used directly for business purposes is stated at the lowest
of its value determined in accordance with the same principles as in case of land and buildings, or its net selling
price or lower value in use. Maintenance expenditure is only capitalised if it extends the useful life of the asset.
FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS
Participating interests
Non-consolidated participating interests over whose financial and operating policies the group exercises
significant influence are valued using the net asset value method. To determine whether there is significant
influence, the financial instruments containing potential voting rights are also considered. Under the net asset
value method, participating interests are carried at the group’s share in their net asset value plus its share in the
results of the participating interests and its share of changes recognized directly in the equity of the participating
interests as from the acquisition date, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in these
financial statements, less its share in the dividend distributions from the participating interests. The group’s share
in the results of the participating interests is recognized in the profit and loss account. If and to the extent the
distribution of profits is subject to restrictions, these are included in a legal reserve. The company’s share in direct
equity increases and decreases of participating interests is also included in the legal reserve, except for asset
revaluations recognized in the legal revaluation reserve.
If the value of the participating interest under the net asset value method has become nil, this method is no longer
applied, with the participating interest being valued at nil if the circumstances are unchanged. In connection with
this, any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the investor’s net investment in the participating
interest are included. A provision is formed if and to the extent the company stands surety for all or part of the
debts of the participating interest or if it has a constructive obligation to enable the participating interest to repay
its debts.
A subsequently acquired share of the profit of the participating interest is recognized only if and to the extent that
the accumulated share of the previously unrecognized loss has been recovered.
After applying the net asset value method the company considers whether there are indications that the realisable
value is lower than the book value. The realisable value is the higher of the net selling price or value in use. When
there are such indications an impairment test is executed and any impairment loss if applicable, are directly
accounted for in the profit and loss account.
Participating interests over whose financial and operating policies no significant influence is exercised are carried
at cost less any impairment. Dividend is designated as income and recognized under financial income and
expense.
Results from transactions with or between non-consolidated participating interests carried at net asset value are
recognized proportionally. Results from transactions with or between non-consolidated participating interests
carried at cost are recognized in full, unless they are effectively unrealized.
Receivables
Long-term receivables are carried at their nominal value less a provision for doubtful debts where necessary.
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Deferred tax receivable
Deferred tax assets due to temporary valuation differences between company accounts and the accounts for tax
purposes or due to compensable losses are accounted for if and insofar as it may reasonably be assumed that
the relevant assets will be realised. Deferred tax assets are calculated on the basis of the tax rate applicable at
the time at which these are expected to be realised and are valued at net present value.
IMPAIRMENT OR VALUE ADJUSTMENT OF FIXED ASSETS
Agrifirm recognises non-current assets in accordance with accounting policies generally accepted for financial
reporting in the Netherlands. Pursuant to these policies, assets with a long life should be subject to an impairment
test in the case of changes or circumstances arising that lead to the expectation that the book value of the asset
will not be recovered. The recoverability of assets in use is determined by comparing the book value of an asset
with the present value of the future net cash flow that the asset is expected to generate. In the case of a higher
book value, the difference is charged to the result. Assets for sale are stated at book value or lower market value,
less selling costs.
INVENTORIES
Stocks of raw materials and consumables are stated at historical cost free warehouse. However, if on balance
sheet date, selling prices of finished products reveal that a loss is to be expected, raw material value based on
historical cost is reduced to lower market value and a provision is established to cover all existing raw materials
positions that have not been received physically. Stocks of finished products, goods for resale and livestock are
carried at the lower of historical cost or market value. The costs of any finished products, being their total
production costs, are determined in accordance with the first-in-first-out (FIFO) method. Production costs include
part of the direct expenses as well as part of the variable component of indirect production costs. The historical
cost of livestock is deemed to include all related variable expenses, including the cost of feeding this livestock.
Provisions are established for obsolete inventories and weight losses.
RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are at first recognition recorded at their fair value, subsequently stated at amortised
cost based less a provision for doubtful debts. The term of these trade and other receivables is less than one
year. Provisions are determined on the basis of individual assessment of the collectability of receivables.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
This refers to all cash and bank deposits at call. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at their nominal value.
CLASSIFICATION OF EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
A financial instrument or its separate components are classified in the consolidated financial statements as liability
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement underlying the financial instrument. In
the company financial statements, a financial instrument is classified in accordance with the legal reality. Interest,
dividends, gains and losses relating to a financial instrument, or part of a financial instrument, are included in the
financial statements in accordance with the classification of the financial instrument as liability or equity.
THIRD-PARTY NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The third-party non-controlling interests are valued at the third parties’ share of the net asset value.
PROVISIONS
Provisions are stated at face value, with the exception of provisions for pensions and other employee benefits,
which are based on actuarial calculations and deferred tax liabilities which are valued at present value. Provisions
are recognised when Agrifirm or its group companies have a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event; it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount of the provision is
determined based on a best estimate of the amounts required to settle the liabilities and losses concerned at the
balance sheet date. Provisions are carried at non-discounted value, unless stated otherwise.
If third-party reimbursement of expenses required to settle a provision is probable, the reimbursement is
recognized as a separate asset.
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PENSIONS
Group companies of Agrifirm have different pension plans in accordance with the local conditions and customs in
the countries in which they operate. The majority of these plans are defined contribution plans administered by
insurance companies. In general, these plans are funded by means of premiums paid to the insurance
companies. The actuarial risks of these plans are borne entirely by the insurance companies. The amounts
payable are incorporated directly in the profit and loss account. The contributions that are still to be paid and to be
received back are entered under current liabilities and receivables, respectively.
DEFERRED TAXES
Taxes are calculated on the basis of the result before tax as shown in the profit and loss account, taking account
of tax-exempt items and partly or completely non-deductible expenses. If valuation for tax purposes differ from the
policies described in this section and these result in deferred tax liabilities, a provision is formed for these
liabilities. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and available carry-forward
of unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax losses can be utilised. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are measured by taking account of the tax consequences of the realisation or settlement of
assets, provisions, liabilities and accruals as intended by Agrifirm and its group companies, at the balance sheet
date. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are stated at the nominal rates that apply in the various countries and
at discounted values. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are set off if the general conditions for netting are met.
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. and virtually all of its Dutch group companies form a fiscal unity for Dutch
corporate income taxes.
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
When long-term liabilities are recognized initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial
liabilities not classified at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
After initial measurement, long-term liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are taken to the profit and loss account when the liabilities are derecognized, as well as through
the amortization process. Interest charges are recognised in the year in which they fall due.
TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables and other current liabilities are at first recognition recorded at their fair value, subsequently stated
at amortised cost based and are debts with a term of less than one year.
AMORTIZED COST
Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or liability is measured at initial recognition less
repayments of the principal, plus or less the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method for any
difference between this initial amount and the maturity amount, and less any reductions (effected directly or
through a provision being formed) for impairment and doubtful debts.
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
A financial instrument is derecognized if a transaction results in the transfer, to a third party, of all or nearly all
rights to economic benefits and of all or nearly all the risks attached to the position.
LEASING
Assessing whether an agreement contains a lease is based on the substance at the inception date of the
agreement. The agreement is regarded as a lease if the fulfilment of the agreement depends on the use of a
specific asset, or on whether the lease contains the right of use of a specific asset.
Amounts paid in accordance with operating leases are accounted for in the profit and loss account on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Assets which are acquired under the terms of financial leases are
stated at the lowest of the fair value or present value of the minimum instalments less accumulated depreciation.
Financial lease commitments are accounted for under non-current and current liabilities.
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NET TURNOVER
Net turnover is calculated as the earnings received from external parties for delivered goods and services, minus
volume discounts, other discounts, price adjustments paid to customers and excluding value added tax. Member
discount is a distribution of profits to the members and therefore not deducted in net turnover. Turnover is only
accounted for if there is reasonable assurance that future benefit will be accrued by the business and that such
benefit can be estimated reliably. Income is recognised when the significant risks have been transferred to the
buyer, receipt of the consideration is probable, and the associated costs and possible return of goods can be
estimated reliably.
COST OF RAW MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES
The cost of raw materials and consumables is calculated on the basis of historical cost. Foreseeable and other
obligations as well as potential losses arising before the financial year-end are recognized if they are known
before the financial statements are prepared and provided all other conditions for forming provisions are met.
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible fixed assets are calculated on the
basis of fixed percentages of their purchase price or cost of manufacture.
INTEREST
Interest is allocated to successive financial reporting periods in proportion to the outstanding principal. Premiums
and discounts are treated as annual interest charges so that the effective interest rate, together with the interest
payable on the loan, is recognized in the profit and loss account, with the amortized cost of the liabilities being
recognized in the balance sheet. Period interest charges and similar charges are recognized in the year in which
they fall due.
INCOME TAXES
Income taxes comprises both taxes payable in the short term and deferred taxes, taking account of tax facilities
and non-deductible costs. No taxes are deducted from profits if and insofar as these can be offset against losses
from previous years and a deferred tax asset had not been recognised. Taxes are deducted from losses if these
can be offset against profits in previous years. In addition, taxes will be deducted if and insofar as it may be
reasonably expected that losses can be offset against future profits.
RESULT PARTICIPATING INTERESTS
The share in the result of participating interests represents Agrifirm’s share in the net result of these participating
interests.
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with the indirect method.
Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash at bank and in hand.
Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated at average rates. Cash exchange differences are presented
separately in the statement of cash flows.
Interest received and paid, dividends received and profits tax are included under cash flows from operating
activities. Dividend paid is stated under net cash flow from financing activities.
The cost of group companies acquired and proceeds from group companies sold are included under cash flow
from/(used in) investing activities, insofar as payment in cash has been made, net of cash and cash equivalents
held by the group companies in question.
Transactions for which no cash or cash equivalents are exchanged, including finance leases, are not included in
the cash flow statement. Lease payments under finance leases are considered to be cash outflows from financing
activities to the extent that they relate to repayment instalments and as cash outflows from operating activities to
the extent that they relate to interest payments. Income from sale and financial leaseback transactions is
presented as cash inflow from financing activities.
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7.5 Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF GROUP COMPANIES
The following acquisitions and divestments of group companies took place in 2016:
> 9 May 2016: the remainder indirect interest through Bankiva BV of 5.6% in Plukon Food Group BV has been
sold.
> 30 June 2016: Nuscience acquired 100% of the shares of the Uruguayan premix manufacturer Solapa S.A.
(Nutral).
> 11 July 2016: Agrifirm Polska took over all the assets of the Polish compound feed producer Paszmark.
> 14 July 2016: the interest of 51% in Agrimec Group BV has been sold to BayWa AG.
INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (1)
Change in the value of intangible fixed assets during the year under review:

Goodwill

Software

Prepayments
on intangible
fixed assets

76,227
-43,062

28,030
-19,900

1,184
-

105,441
-62,962

Book value

33,165

8,130

1,184

42,479

Changes in book value
(De-)consolidations group companies
Investments
Reclassifications
Depreciation
Currency translation differences
Balance

11,704
-7,473
1,755
5,986

-678
2,323
342
-2,888
1
-900

901
-342
559

-678
14,928
-10,361
1,756
5,645

89,686
-50,535

30,018
-22,788

1,743
-

121,447
-73,323

39,151

7,230

1,743

48,124

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation

Balance as at 31 December 2016
Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation
Book value

Total

Goodwill is amortised over an estimated life of five years for a trading company and ten years for a production
company, of which a client relationship has a long term duration. The other categories are amortised over ten
years maximum. The investments in goodwill in 2016 in the amount of € 11.7 million (2015: € 13.1 million) are
primarily related to the acquisition of Solapa S.A. (Nutral) and Paszmark.
PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT (2)
Change in the value of property, plant & equipment during the year under review:

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation
Book value
Changes in book value
(De-)consolidations group companies
Investments
Purchase price divestments
Reclassifications
Depreciation
Depreciation divestments
Impairment
Currency translation differences
Balance
Balance as at 31 December 2016
Purchase price
Accumulated depreciation
Book value
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Land and
buildings

Plant and
machinery

Other fixed
assets

Fixed
assets
under construction

290,339
-176,619
113,720

333,483
-236,504
96,979

74,899
-54,645
20,254

21,266
21,266

4,082
-1,392
2,690

724,069
-469,160
254,909

-2,948
3,980
-17,436
5,497
-7,099
15,300
-1,736
1,254
-3,188

1,334
24,304
-68,297
4,468
-17,050
68,225
-3,427
172
9,729

568
4,547
-14,077
157
-4,912
13,799
-24
58

-10,122
-243
-10,365

-182
-5
150
-117
-154

-1,046
32,831
-99,992
-29,066
97,474
-5,280
1,159
-3,920

280,686
-170,154
110,532

295,464
-188,756
106,708

66,070
-45,758
20,312

10,901
10,901

4,232
-1,696
2,536

657,353
-406,364
250,989
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Assets not
employed
in business
operations

Total

Assets not employed in business operations consist of land and buildings which were previously used for
business purposes and that are currently vacant or (partly) rented by third parties. Agrifirm intends to sell this
property. Based on changes in book value over time and proceeds of similar property, it is anticipated that the
expected net proceeds of this property exceeds the book value. In 2016 profit on the sale of predominantly real
estate amounted to € 4.7 million (2015: € 0.5 million). The reclassifications of fixed assets under construction
concerns taking into operation assets in Tianjin (China) and Veghel (the Netherlands). An impairment of
€ 5.3 million (2015: € 2.2 million) has been made for several assets, almost fully related to Germany, mainly as a
result of the fact that the book value was higher than the expected realizable value.
For a book value of € 13.9 million (2015: € 14.4 million) as part of land and buildings, Agrifirm has not the legal
ownership but the beneficial ownership based upon financial lease contracts. For further information regarding
these contracts, reference is made to the notes of financial lease as mentioned under commitments and
contingencies.
FINANCAL FIXED ASSETS (3)
Change in the financial fixed assets during the year under review:

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Changes in book value
(De-)consolidations group companies
Investment / payment
Divestment / repayment
Increase / decrease
Dividends received
Share in annual results
Currency translation differences
Balance
Balance as at 31 December 2016

Participating
interests

Other noncurrent
assets

Deferred tax
assets

Total

10,549

15,941

18,429

44,919

-15
-15,958
-1,585
13,834
-3,724

-193
-4,975
-5
-5,173

570
-143
-51
376

362
-20,933
-143
-1,585
13,834
-56
-8,521

6,825

10,768

18,805

36,398

Participating interests
The participating interests mainly relate to the non-consolidated interests in:
> Schothorst Feed Research BV (18.9%)
> Sto Posto DOO (35.0%)
Agrifirm values participating interests over whose commercial and financial policy the group exerts significant
influence at net asset value and goodwill paid on acquisition of group companies and participating interests is
capitalized. The divestment / repayment amounting to € 16.0 million (2015: € 70.1 million) and the share in annual
result amounting to € 13.8 million (2015: € 46.5 million) relates mainly to the sale of the indirect interest in Plukon
Food Group B.V.
Receivables from participating interests
Included in receivables from participating interests are receivables arising from loans to participating interests.
Other non-current assets
The remainder of the other non-current assets are mainly loans to customers.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets mainly refer to tax losses carried forward and temporary valuation differences in the
Netherlands, Germany, Poland, Belgium and Spain. These deferred tax assets have been capitalised on the
basis of expected taxable earnings in the future.
A net interest rate of 2% has been used to discount these deferred tax assets. The nominal value of the deferred
tax assets amounted to € 23.4 million (2015: € 21.6 million). The term of these deferred tax assets is maximum
nine years for the Dutch part. It is anticipated that a part of the deferred tax assets amounting to € 1.6 million
(2015: € 3.0 million) will be refundable within one year. The deferred tax assets increased in 2016 due to the
valuation of tax losses and changes in the differences between the commercial and fiscal valuation of assets and
liabilities.
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At year-end 2016, Agrifirm had tax losses carried forward and valuation differences amounting to € 56.0 million
(2015: € 34.3 million) for which no deferred tax assets have been capitalised in the balance sheet because
taxable earnings in the near future are not certain. These tax losses mainly relate to various group companies in
Germany.
INVENTORIES (4)
Inventories can be specified as follows:

2016

2015

Raw materials and consumables
Finished products and goods for resale
Livestock

70,976
107,396
3,952

71,048
141,887
4,138

Total inventories

182,324

217,073

The inventories are stated at historical cost or, if lower, market value/realisable value.
RECEIVABLES (5)
Receivables can be specified as follows:

2016

2015

Trade receivables
Taxes and social insurance contributions
Other receivables
Other current assets

178,417
7,289
25,319
3,532

200,452
7,493
12,410
7,921

Total receivables

214,557

228,276

Trade receivables are stated at their nominal value less a provision for doubtful debts. The term of the receivables
is less than one year.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (6)
Cash and cash equivalents are available to the company on demand.
GROUP EQUITY (7)
Equity
The change in equity during the year is as follows:

2016

2015

Balance as at 1 January

436,392

382,238

Member Dividend / Member Discount
Net income
Currency translation differences and other changes

-19,471
30,603
4,197

-16,336
76,230
-5,740

Balance as at 31 December

451,721

436,392

Changes in equity are elaborated upon in the company financial statements.
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Non-controlling interests
The change in non-controlling interests during the year under review is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January
Share in income
Divestments in group companies
Sale of shares in group companies
Dividend
Currency translation differences and other
Balance as 31 December

2016

2015

6,636

6,266

540
-4,656
-1,118
-280

1,080
-298
-4
-33
-375

1,122

6,636

Non-controlling interests mainly refer to Cehave Korm Ltd, a Nuscience group company. Divestments in group
companies concerns the sale of Agrimec Group B.V.
Comprehensive income
Breakdown of comprehensive income is as follows:

Net income
Member Dividend / Member Discount
Currency translation differences and other changes
Comprehensive income

2016

2015

30,603

76,230

-19,471
4,197

-16,336
-5,740

15,329

54,154

PROVISIONS (8)
Provisions can be specified as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 2016
(De-)consolidations group companies
Additions
Used / released
Currency translation differences
Balance as at 31 December 2016

Pensions

Deferred tax
liabilities

Restructuring

Other

Total

294

844

2,981

4,554

8,673

22
-111
6

424
-112
27

7,037
-1,858
-

-11
1,890
-1,097
77

413
8,949
-3,178
110

211

1,183

8,160

5,413

14,967

The provisions are mainly of a short-term nature, except for the provision for deferred taxes and pensions.
Provisions for pensions primarily relate to the actuarial value of pension liabilities not insured at third-party
insurers or pension funds. The provision for deferred tax liabilities mainly relates to differences in valuation for
statutory and tax purposes of group companies acquired in the period 2007 to 2010. The restructuring provision
relates to the projected cost of integration and restructuring of activities of the various group companies. The
provision has primarily been established to cover the cost of personnel reductions and the optimisation of the
number of locations and relates for a substantial part to the German activities. The usage was primarily for
restructuring the organisation. Only a limited part of the provision has been released to the profit and loss
account. Included in other provisions are provisions for risks related to soil contamination, losses on contracts
with customers, losses on egg contracts and claims relating to product liability. Most of the provision was used for
the purpose it was created for. Additionally, there was a release in 2015 related to the settlement of a claim.
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NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (9)
Non-current liabilities can be specified as follows:
2016

2015

Debt
Other non-current liabilities

1,662
19,723

1,821
21,284

Total non-current liabilities

21,385

23,105

No debt had a remaining term of more than five years at balance sheet date (2015: nil). The repayment
commitment on long-term loans amounts to € 2.9 million next year. Most long-term loans have a fixed interest rate
of 0.0% to 8.5%. The average interest rate on long-term loans was approximately 4.2% in 2016 (2015: 4.2%).
Ultimo 2016 there are no assets pledged as security (2015: nil). Other non-current liabilities contains the financial
lease obligation amounting to € 14.8 million (2015: € 15.0 million) of the Graansloot cereal storage facility. An
€ 17.2 million (2015: € 17.9 million) guarantee was provided to the bank of the lessor of the facility. No security
was provided for the other long-term loans.
Other long-term liabilities contingent liabilities include an amount of € 0.7 million (2015: € 1.2 million) with respect
to former acquisitions of group companies. The short-term part of this liability is € 0.4 million (2015: nil).
CURRENT LIABILITIES (10)
Current liabilities can be specified as follows:
2016

2015

Short-term borrowings
Bank overdrafts
Trade payables
Taxes and social security contributions
Member Dividend / Member Discount payable
Other payables
Other current liabilities

49,222
1,916
156,435
15,269
34,500
76,953
28,498

49,104
3,482
181,849
20,231
27,000
58,513
36,723

Total current liabilities

362,793

376,902

The term of the liabilities is less than one year. Other payables contain most of the arable pool position with
farmers. Other current liabilities contain most importantly accruals.
Bank debt mainly refer to a ‘multi-currency revolving credit facility’ with a group of banks ('club deal'). During the
maturity of the facility, amounts were drawn and fund even as regular transactions were made at different banks
in the club deal. As a result of that the amounts are balanced per individual bank in the annual accounts.
Amounts can be drawn on the facility up to a maximum of € 250 million, when ratios agreed upon with the banks
have been met. Agrifirm Group BV and a number of Dutch group companies guaranteed this facility towards the
group of banks. The facility is available as from 2 June 2015 and exists out of two parts.
Part A, amounting to € 200 million has a term of five years and can be extended two times with one year. Part A
additionally has an option to be extended with € 200 million.
Part B, amounting to € 50 million has a term of one year and can be extended six times with one year. In 2016,
part B has been extended for one year.
The interest rate is based on Euribor and a spread.
Financial instruments
Interest rate swaps with a nominal value of € 50 million (2015: € 50 million) as at the balance sheet date are used
to cover interest rate risks with respect to liabilities with a variable interest rate. Financial instruments are not held
or issued for speculative purposes. The swaps open on the balance sheet date have terms with an ending date
varying from 2018 to 2020 and have an average interest rate of 1.38% (2015: 1.38%). At year-end 2016 the fair
value of the current swaps amounted to negative € 2.1 million (2015: negative € 2.4 million). No provision was
made for this negative value due to the application of cost price hedge accounting.
Forward contracts were concluded for the purchase of raw materials to hedge the risk of price fluctuations of
foreign currency. Due to the higher price of foreign currency than the prices agreed upon in the forward contracts,
the contracts have a positive fair value of € 36 thousand as at 31 December 2016
(2015: positive € 599 thousand).
Risks acknowledged by Agrifirm are:
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>
>

>

>

Strategic risks: Possible risks related to further growth and acquisitions are controlled through a strategic plan
and targets related to growth and financing.
Operational risks: Volatility of raw material prices and a mismatch between purchase- and selling positions are
being controlled by monitoring positions and continuous attention for cost efficiency. Animal diseases may
have an adverse effect on the number of animals and additional costs for transportation. By securing the
quality of raw materials, providing information to livestock farmers and geographical spread of the activities,
Agrifirm limits this risk. Debtor payments risks are controlled with debtor management and where possible
securities will be obtained.
Financial risks: Funding-, interest- and currency risks are being hedged by means of interest swaps and
currency forward contracts and periodic liquidity planning. These activities and treasury are predominantly
taking place at Agrifirm Group level.
Compliance risks: The risk that there is no compliance with applicable laws and regulations is being controlled
by working with an internal compliance code, ‘horizontaal toezicht’ and internal control procedures.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Securities provided
Bank guarantees have been issued amounting to € 0.5 million (2015: € 1.4 million) primarily for leases and
prepayments, and guarantees have been issued for other parties amounting to € 4.0 million (2015: € 3.2 million).
A work guarantee for several years is provided for all employees of Agrifirm Feed transport BV who were
transferred to another employer in the process of outsourcing transport activities per 1 January 2014.
An € 17.2 million (2015: € 17.9 million) guarantee was provided to the bank of the lessor of the Graansloot cereal
storage facility.
Guarantees as defined in Section 2:403 of the Dutch Civil code have been issued by Koninklijke Coöperatie
Agrifirm U.A. on behalf of most of its Dutch group companies.
Rental-, lease- and other commitments
The composition of the total liabilities can be specified as follows:

2016

2015

Rent buildings
Rent and lease of transport equipment and vehicles
Other liabilities

39,392
12,759
5,668

45,061
13,090
27,641

Total off-balance sheet commitments

57,820

85,792

As part of the normal business activities, contracts with purchasing and buying commitments with third parties are
entered into.
The breakdown of the liabilities over the years can be specified as follows:

2016

2015

Less than 1 year
From 1 - 5 years
More than 5 years

18,226
28,475
11,118

22,385
40,052
23,355

Total off-balance sheet commitments

57,820

85,792

Fiscal unity
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. and all of its Dutch group companies in which a 100% participation is held,
with the exception of some entities in which no activities performed anymore, form a fiscal unity for Dutch
corporate income taxes. As a result of this, Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. can be held liable for taxes of
companies that are part of this fiscal unity.
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7.6 Notes to the consolidated profit & loss account
NET TURNOVER (11)
Breakdown of net turnover by activity is as follows:

2016

2015

809,555
345,290
391,956
29,900
87,947
346,061
148,013
11,638

886,938
349,058
449,451
40,354
96,760
331,110
69,366
144,309
17,900

2,170,360

2,385,246

2016

2015

The Netherlands
Belgium
Germany
France
Poland
Hungary
China
Brasil
Other countries

1,411,477
103,179
201,865
37,772
84,709
49,257
106,259
51,187
124,655

1,559,997
123,934
270,452
37,499
79,558
60,694
94,886
40,608
117,618

Total net turnover

2,170,360

2,385,246

Feed the Netherlands
Arable farming and horticulture the Netherlands
Feed Europe
Arable farming Europe
Co-products
Premixes & concentrates
Mechanisation
Retail
Other activities
Total net turnover

The geographical breakdown of net turnover is as follows:

Transactions with associated parties
An amount of € 1.0 billion (2015: € 1.1 billion) was supplied to and purchased from members of Koninklijke
Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. Other than this, no material transactions with associated parties took place in the year
under review.
Other operating income
Other operating income mainly refers to proceeds regarding logistic services rendered to third parties, income
from the lease of tangible fixed assets to third parties, and income from the sale of predominantly real estate.
PERSONNEL COSTS (12)
The breakdown of personnel costs is as follows:

2016

2015

Salaries and wages
Pension premiums
Other social security charges
Temporary staff
Other personnel costs

127,599
8,246
21,015
10,362
24,535

125,970
9,324
20,072
11,282
18,906

Total personnel costs

191,757

185,554

The pension agreements have predominantly an average wage basis and are defined contribution arrangements.
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Employees
Number of employees per activity (ultimo year in FTE):

2016

2015

Feed the Netherlands
Arable farming and Horticulture the Netherlands
Feed and arable farming Europe
Co-products
Premixes & concentrates
Mechanisation
Retail
Other activities

510
234
412
118
1,105
446
264

552
238
433
103
1,021
202
419
211

Total number of FTE

3,089

3,179

2016

2015

Depreciation property, plant and equipment
Impairment
Amortisation goodwill
Depreciation software

29,066
5,280
7,473
2,887

26,604
2,217
6,957
2,172

Total depreciation

44,706

37,950

Number of FTE ultimo year working in the Netherlands 1,606 (2015: 1,754).
DEPRECIATION (13)
The breakdown of depreciation is as follows:

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES (14)
Other operating expenses mainly relate to expenses regarding transport, utility, maintenance and repair costs.
The cost of research and development amounted to € 8.1 million (2015: € 8.1 million).
NET FINANCE EXPENSES (15)
The breakdown of financial income and expenses is as follows:

2016

2015

Financial income
Financial expenses

1,949
-4,738

2,043
-9,392

Net finance expenses

-2,789

-7,349

Financial expenses mainly relate to interest on current bank debt. Financial income primarily relates to interest on
long-term receivables from customers and on loans to participations. An amount of € 0.3 million
(2015: negative € 1.9 million) has been recognised due to positive exchange differences.
INCOME TAXES (16)
Income taxes is for € 6.8 million (2015: € 9.7 million) related to the Netherlands and for € 4.7 million
(2015: € 0.1 million) to foreign countries. The effective corporate income tax rate (40%) is different from the Dutch
nominal rate (25%) due to:
> The result from participating interests is not subject to taxation under the participation exemption in the
Netherlands.
> Other permanent differences in valuation of assets and liabilities for statutory and tax purposes.
> Different nominal tax rates in foreign countries.
> Some tax losses and valuation differences in the Netherlands and abroad are not valued because future
realisation of these is not certain.
> Capitalising tax losses from previous years based on improvement of results.
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7.7 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
GENERAL
The cash flow statement is prepared on the basis of a comparison of the starting and ending balances (the
indirect method). Transactions that did not generate cash flow, such as value adjustments, are eliminated.
Changes as a result of the acquisition or sale of consolidated participating interests are accounted for under
investments. The relevant funds comprise the balance of cash and cash equivalents as well as current bank debt.
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Interest received and paid is accounted for in cash flow from operations. The changes in balances of working
capital and cash flow generated by operating activities show a positive cash flow from operating activities
of € 93.8 million (2015: € 58.2 million).
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Investment activities accounted for an cash out of € 22.0 million (2015: € 10.4 million cash out). Investments are
primarily for new, improvement and the expansion of factories for compound feed and premix. Investments in new
group companies and financial assets were limited. The positive cash flow form divestments concerns the receipt
of the receivable related mainly to the sale of Plukon Food Group BV and Agrimec Group BV.
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Liabilities amounting to € 1.5 million (2015: € 3.7 million) were repaid. In 2016 Member Dividend / Member
Discount and dividends to shareholders with minority interests in participations where Agrifirm does not own
100% of the shares, amounting to € 15.1 million (2015: € 11.1 million) were paid out. Short term loans amounting
to € 0.3 million (2015: € 49.5 million) were attracted.
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS MINUS CURRENT BANK DEBT
Cash and cash equivalents minus current bank debt increased with an amount of € 57.1 million
(2015: € 80.9 million increase). This change can be specified as follows:

2016
Cash and cash equivalents start year
Cash and cash equivalents end year

64,052
119,596

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts start year
Bank overdrafts end year
Change bank overdrafts
Change in cash and cash equivalents less bank
overdrafts
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2015
18,432
64,052
55,544

3,482
1,916

45,620
38,773
3,482

1,566

35,291

57,110

80,911

7.8 Company balance sheet as at 31 December
(after appropriation of profit)

ASSETS (in thousands of euros)
Fixed assets
Financial fixed assets
Participating interests in group companies

Note

2016

17
486,221

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES (in thousands of euros)
Equity
Shareholders’ equity
Statutory reserves
Other reserves

2015

463,392

486,221

Note

2016

463,392

2015

18
3,984
447,737

-2,733
439,125
451,721

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Member Dividend / Member Discount payable

34,500

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

436,392

27,000
34,500

27,000

486,221

463,392

7.9 Company profit & loss account

(in thousands of euros)
Result of group companies

NET RESULT
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Note

2016

2015

30,603

76,230

30,603

76,230

7.10 Accounting policies used in preparing company financial statements
(all amounts are stated in thousands of euros unless indicated otherwise)

These are the company financial statements of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A., established at 1 June 2010,
having its registered offices in Apeldoorn, the Netherlands. These financial statements have been drawn up in
accordance with Dutch laws and regulations for financial reporting. The provision of Section 362(8), Part 9, Book
2 of the Dutch Civil Code that allows the same accounting policies to be used in drawing up the company financial
statements as those used in drawing up the consolidated financial statements was invoked. For the accounting
policies used for valuing assets and liabilities and drawing up the profit and loss account, we refer to the notes to
the consolidated financial statements, unless the company financial statements already include explanatory notes
for the relevant items reported there.
The exemption pursuant to Section 402, Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code was applied for the presentation
of the company profit and loss account.
A list of capital interests, prepared in accordance with legal provisions, is available at the company's offices and
has been filed with the Trade Register.
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7.11 Notes to the company financial statements
FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS (17)
The change in the financial fixed assets can be specified as follows:

Participating
interests in group
companies

Balance as at 1 January 2016

463,392

Changes in book value
Result of group companies
Member Dividend / Member Discount
Currency translation differences and other changes
Balance

30,603
-11,971
4,197
22,829

Balance as at 31 December 2016

486,221

All participating interests in group companies are held via Agrifirm Group BV.
EQUITY (18)
The movement in equity can be specified as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Changes in book value
Net income
Member Dividend / Member Discount
Currency translation differences and other
changes
Balance
Balance as at 31 December 2016

Statutory
reserve
translation
differrences

Statutory
reserve
profit/(loss)
participating
interests

Statutory
reserve
development
costs

Other reserves

Total

-5,168

2,435

-

439,125

436,392

-

-

-

30,603
-19,471

30,603
-19,471

4,197

-197

2,717

-2,520

4,197

4,197

-197

2,717

8,612

15,329

-971

2,238

2,717

447,737

451,721

The members council approved in December 2016 the proposal of the board to pay out an amount of
€ 14.5 million out of the net result over 2016 to the members of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. as Member
Dividend (‘Ledenvoordeel’, dividend on results non-member business) in 2017. This proposal is included in the
financial statements. The amount to be distributed to the members will be calculated as 1.5% on their relevant
transactions in 2016 from the Dutch member companies Agrifirm Feed, Agrifirm Plant and even partly Agrifirm
Co-products and is included under other short-term payables. Over the year 2016 a Member Discount of
€ 8.0 million (€ 6.0 million after corporate income tax) is accrued which is included under other short-term
payables.
Net income amounting to € 30.6 million will be transferred to equity.
Currency translation differences refer to differences in equity value of foreign participating interests. A legal
reserve is retained for these differences. Additional a legal reserve within the statutory reserve has been taken for
the amount of capitalised external expenditures relating to the implementation of one central ERP system within
Agrifirm.
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AUDITOR’S FEES
The fees paid to the auditor charged with conducting the audit are as follows:

2016

2014

Audit of the financial statements
Other audit services
Other non-audit services

865
28
71

968
21
57

Total fees

964

1,046

FISCAL UNITY
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A and all of its Dutch group companies in which a 100% participation is held,
with the exception of some entities in which no activities performed anymore, form a fiscal unity for Dutch
corporate income taxes. As a result of this, Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. can be held liable for taxes of
companies that are part of this fiscal unity.
REMUNERATION MEMBERS EXECUTIVE BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD
The remuneration in accordance with Section 383(1), Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (including pension
contributions) for the members of the board of the Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. (simultaneously the
Supervisory Board of Agrifirm Group BV) is € 272 thousand (2015: € 283 thousand).
The loan of 2015, amounting to € 0.4 million, to one of the Board members of the Cooperative, has been refunded
in 2016.
EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE
On 22 February 2017, before submission for approval of the financial statements 2016, Agrifirm reached an
agreement to sell the assets and activities in Neuss (Germany). It is expected that the transaction will be finalised
in April 2017 after approval of the Kartellamt. This transaction does not have a material impact on the financial
statements 2016.
SIGNATORIES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Apeldoorn, 27 February 2017
On behalf of the Board of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A.
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> Chairman

A.A.J.M. Kamp

> Vice-chairman
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7.12 Other information
PROFIT ALLOCATION
According to Article 30 of the articles of association of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A., a proportion of any
profit revealed in the profit and loss account of the adopted financial statements may be added to the reserves.
The members council shall decide on any balance remaining based on a proposal presented by the board of the
cooperative.
The members council approved in December 2016 the proposal of the board to pay out an amount of
€ 14.5 million out of the net result over 2016 to the members of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. as Member
Dividend (‘Ledenvoordeel’) in 2017. Additionally the Executive Board proposes to pay out an amount of
€ 8.0 million Member Discount (€ 6.0 million after corporate income tax) (‘Ledenkorting’). This proposal is included
in the financial statements. The net result, an amount of € 30.6 million, will be transferred to equity.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To: the members council of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A.
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2016 INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2016 of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A, based in Apeldoorn.
In our opinion the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. as at 31 December 2016, and of its result for 2016 in accordance with Part 9
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
The financial statements comprise:
> The consolidated and company balance sheet as at 31 December 2016
> The consolidated and company profit and loss account for 2016
> The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information
Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements” section of our report.
We are independent of Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A. in accordance with the Verordening inzake de
onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a
regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands.
Furthermore we have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code
of Ethics).
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
REPORT ON OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other
information that consists of:
> The management board’s report
> Other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code
Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
> Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements
> Contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code
We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of
the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material
misstatements. By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is less than the scope of
those performed in our audit of the financial statements.
Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the management board’s report
in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code.
DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Responsibilities of management for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Cooperative’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework mentioned, management
should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management
should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the Cooperative’s ability to continue
as a going concern in the financial statements.
Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have
detected all material errors and fraud.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the
effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.
We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in
accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit
included e.g.:
> Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control
> Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Cooperative’s internal control
> Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management
> Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Cooperative’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going concern
> Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures
> Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation
Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and
performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to
be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations.
On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of
financial information or specific items.
We communicate with management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Zwolle, 27 February 2017
Ernst & Young Accountants LLP
Signed by B.W. Littel
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Addresses
Koninklijke Coöperatie Agrifirm U.A.
Landgoedlaan 20
7325 AW APELDOORN, the Netherlands
T +31 88 488 1000
F +31 88 488 1900
www.agrifirm.com
info@agrifirm.com
COC 08226836

EXECUTIVE BOARD
Dick Hordijk
Jaap Vessies

>
>

Chairman (CEO)
Financial Director (CFO)

Group companies
AGRIFIRM FEED BV

AGRIFIRM DEUTSCHLAND GMBH

Landgoedlaan 20
7325 AW APELDOORN, the Netherlands
T +31 88 488 1100
F +31 88 488 1900
www.agrifirm.com/feed
feed@agrifirm.com
Director: Ronald van de Ven

Hüttruper Heide 90
48268 GREVEN, Germany
T +49 2571 9188 0
F +49 2131 9188 300
www.agrifirm.de
info@agrifirm.de
Director: Arno Oostdam

AGRIFIRM BELGIUM NV

BV OLDAMBT

Industrieweg 18
2280 GROBBENDONK, Belgium
T +32 14 50 07 80
F +32 14 50 07 91
www.agrifirm.be
info@agrifirm.be
Director: Adrie Brands

Langeweg 5
9682 XR OOSTWOLD, the Netherlands
T +31 597 55 13 02
F +31 597 55 17 67
www.oldambt.nl
drogerij@oldambt.nl
Director: Eiko Jan Duursema

AGRIFIRM CO-PRODUCTS BV / BONDA

AGRIFIRM INNOVATION CENTER
Landgoedlaan 20

Weeresteinstraat 43
2182 GR HILLEGOM, the Netherlands
T +31 252 53 61 36
F +31 252 53 61 37
www.agrifirm.com/co-products
co-products@agrifirm.com
Director: Ed Brouwer
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7325 AW APELDOORN, the Netherlands
T +31 88 488 1000
F +31 88 488 1900
www.agrifirm.com
aic@agrifirm.com
Director: Albert van der Belt

AGRIFIRM PLANT BV

NUSCIENCE GROUP NV

Landgoedlaan 20
7325 AW APELDOORN, the Netherlands
T +31 88 488 1200
F +31 88 488 1900
www.agrifirm.com/plant
plant@agrifirm.com
Director: John Smit

Booiebos 5
9031 DRONGEN, Belgium
T +32 9 280 29 71
F +32 9 282 00 27
www.nusciencegroup.com
info@nusciencegroup.com
Director: Johan De Schepper

AGRIFIRM POLSKA SP ZOO

AGRIFIRM MAGYARORSZÁG ZRT.

64-500 SZAMOTUŁY, Poland
ul. Boleslawa Chrobrego 52
T +48 61 29 31 970
F +48 61 29 22 369
www.agrifirm.pl
biuro@agrifirm.pl
Director: John Dortmans

Daróczi major, Pf. 27
4183 KABA, Hungary
T +36 54 461 110
F +36 54 523 033
www.agrifirm.hu
info@agrifirm.hu
Director: John Dortmans
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NUTRICONTROL BV

AGRIFIRM EXLAN BV

NCB-laan 52
5462 GE VEGHEL, the Netherlands
T +31 413 38 26 33
F +31 413 38 21 41
www.nutricontrol.nl
info@nutricontrol.nl
Director: Jörgen van den Ende

Landgoedlaan 20
7325 AW APELDOORN, the Netherlands
T +31 88 488 1000
F +31 88 488 1900
www.exlan.nl
info@exlan.nl
Director: Gerrit Schilstra

WELKOOP WINKEL BV

WELKOOP RETAIL BV

Galvanistraat 100
6716 AE EDE, the Netherlands
T +31 318 43 20 02
F +31 318 43 20 08
www.welkoop.nl
info@welkoop.nl
Director: Paul Burger

Galvanistraat 100
6716 AE EDE, the Netherlands
T +31 318 43 20 02
F +31 318 43 20 08
www.welkoop.nl
info@welkoop.nl
Director: Paul Burger

Participating interests
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STO POSTO DOO

SCHOTHORST FEED RESEARCH BV

Patrijarha Varnave 31
11000 BELGRADO, Serbia
T +381 11 244 11 96
F +381 11 244 60 24
www.stoposto.rs
office@stoposto.rs
Director: Zoran Vukadinovic

Meerkoetenweg 26
8218 NA LELYSTAD, the Netherlands
T +31 320 25 22 94
F +31 320 25 50 30
www.schothorst.nl
info@schothorst.nl
Director: Lieuwe Roosenschoon
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